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Our mission
The Joseph Rowntree
Foundation (JRF)’s
mission is to inspire action
and change to solve UK
poverty. Together with
the Joseph Rowntree
Housing Trust (JRHT),
we are working towards
our shared vision of a
prosperous UK without
poverty.
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Introduction
WILL HAIRE - Chair of Trustees
This annual report and accounts
covers the period to the end of
December 2019, a year which
concluded with relative political
certainty compared with preceding
years. A new UK government was
elected with a clear parliamentary
majority on a platform to enact
the departure of the UK from the
European Union on 31 January 2020.
In Northern Ireland, the Executive has
now been reconstituted, bringing an
end to the absence of policy-making
over the previous three years.
This relative certainty was swiftly
disrupted by the instability brought
about by the impact of the rapid
spread of coronavirus on our health,
society and economy. Everyone across
the country and much of the world is
being affected in one way or another.
For people trapped in poverty already
or for those swept into poverty, the
impact is especially challenging; and
people’s ability to respond is shaped
by their pre-existing resources,
security of income, and their family
circumstances. This rapidly-changing
context will be foremost in our minds
as we report on 2019, and look ahead
to 2020 and beyond, in delivering our
organisational mission to inspire action
and change to solve UK poverty.
Our vision is of a country in which,
by 2030, fewer than one in ten
people are locked in poverty, no one
is in poverty’s grip for more than
two years, and no one is destitute. In
challenging times we believe that we
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need to focus on solutions to the root
causes of poverty, and to create public
and political will to solve poverty in
all of the nations of the UK so that
those solutions land in a conducive
environment. For too long we have
seen piecemeal efforts to tackle
poverty. Now is the time for effective
and evidence-based action.
At the end of 2019, the Joseph
Rowntree Foundation (JRF) concluded
its significant internal change
programme to transition our operating
model to a social change organisation.
Our outcomes teams in housing,
work and social security are up-andrunning, developing partnerships and
plans to achieve those outcomes. Our
long-term goal in securing increased
public and political support is well
underway, with ground-breaking
work beginning to yield results in
creating a more productive public
conversation about poverty, and our
low-income voters work positioning
poverty as an issue in which people
have a democratic right to be heard.
In 2019 we have accelerated our
practice working alongside people
with direct experience of poverty, and
are supporting the development of
grassroots movements for change.
During a time of renewed external
focus, JRF and the Joseph Rowntree
Housing Trust (JRHT) undertook
extensive restructuring to become
incorporated as charities. This work
has now concluded and became
operational from 1 January 2020.
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Both organisations have been
registered as new charities with the
respective regulators, including, for
the first time, with the Office for the
Scottish Charity Regulator due to our
increased activity in Scotland.
At the time of writing we are looking
forward to the arrival of Paul Kissack
who is taking up the role of Group
Chief Executive from the beginning of
September. Paul is replacing Campbell
Robb who served as JRF and JRHT’s
Chief Executive from January 2017
to June 2019. During his tenure,
Campbell led the organisations to
their outcomes focus, so that both
organisations can achieve greater
impact and value. We thank him for
his service; the organisations are in a
strong position to meet the challenges
of the next decade and we know that
Paul will build on this and help lead us
forward.
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Governing document
2019
The Joseph Rowntree Foundation
(JRF) was formed by a Deed of
Foundation dated 13 December 1904,
originally under the name of the
Joseph Rowntree Village Trust. There
have been a number of changes to the
Deed since then, the most significant
being effected under the Joseph
Rowntree Memorial Trust Act 1959.
The name was changed to the Joseph
Rowntree Foundation in 1990.

JRF is not incorporated, although the
Trustees as a body are incorporated
under section 251 of the Charities Act
2011.
Trustees set the strategic and policy
direction; day-to-day management
functions are the responsibility of the
Executive Directors.

INCORPORATION
As part of the drive to modernise
and to future-proof JRF and JRHT’s
governance arrangements, Trustees
took the decision in December
2018 that both organisations should
incorporate. Work has taken place in
2019 to achieve this.

Order. The unincorporated charity
no longer exists and the next set of
annual statements will be prepared as
a Company Limited by Guarantee.

In addition to having a more modern
legal form, the change introduces
limited liability for Trustees. Changes
to the composition of the Trustee
bodies will also enable JRF and JRHT
to fully deal with conflicts of interest
that have existed by virtue of JRF and
JRHT having the same Trustees.

Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust
incorporated as a Community Benefit
Society on the 24 September 2019.
On 1 January 2020 the assets and
liabilities of the unincorporated charity
were transferred to this Community
Benefit Society, under a Charity
Commission Scheme and Order.

JRF incorporated as a Company
Limited by Guarantee (CLG) on 31
July 2019, but was dormant until
1 January 2020. On 1 January
2020 the assets and liabilities of
the unincorporated charity were
transferred to the new JRF Ltd under
a Charity Commission Scheme and
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The trustees of the unincorporated
charity became the first Trustees of
the Company Limited by Guarantee.

As part of incorporation, Joseph
Rowntree Housing Trust took the
opportunity to directly employ
colleagues who were previously
employed by JRF but subject to a
100% recharge. This change also took
place on 1 January 2020.
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RECRUITMENT AND APPOINTMENT OF TRUSTEES
The Deed of Foundation which
applied until the end of 2019 required
that JRF and JRHT share the same
trustees.
Within the Deed of Foundation, no
limit to the length of trustee terms
is stipulated. However, in 2005
trustees made a decision to limit
the Trustee term to 10 years, with
the expectation for each trustee to
serve for a minimum of five years –
this may be extended for a further
period not normally exceeding five
years. The chair and deputy chair
should be appointed for a term of five
years, which may be extended for a
maximum of one further term of five
years, with an overall maximum period
of service as a trustee of 15 years.
In accordance with the 1904 Deed of
Foundation, trustee appointments are
made by the continuing JRF and JRHT
trustees. There is a skills assessment
matrix to ensure that each committee
and sub-committee contains members
with the appropriate skills and
experience. This matrix was subject
to independent review in 2019,
and further changes will be made in
response to this review in 2020.

with a new governing document,
this has been changed to introduce a
maximum of nine years bringing JRF
in line with the Charity Commission
Code of Governance. The same term
applies to JRHT board members to
ensure consistency between the two
organisations. From January 2020,
JRF self-assessed against the Charity
Commission Code of Governance.
Trustees recognise that the diversity
of the board needs to be improved in
order to be fully compliant and this is
something that will be addressed in
2020.
Trustee induction and personal
development arrangements are
regularly reviewed, and a specific
budget is established for this purpose.
There were no specific training
requirements this year, but Trustees
attended a selection of events run
by both JRF and JRHT, and external
providers.

JRF has adopted the Charity
Commission Code of Governance.
Under that Code, it is recommended
that the maximum term should be
nine years. Therefore, in 2019 JRF did
not comply with this recommendation.
However, as we moved to become
a Company Limited by Guarantee
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Organisational structure in 2019
In accordance with powers set out
in the trust deed, JRHT trustees
have delegated strategic matters
to JRF trustees (who are the same
individuals). In practical terms, there
has been one trustee meeting each
quarter that covers JRF, JRHT and
shared / corporate matters.
Four trustee meetings and a joint
away-day with Executive Directors
were held in 2019.
There continue to be three subcommittees that support both JRF and
JRHT. All committees are chaired by a
Trustee and legal responsibility for the
work done by the committees remains
with the Trustees.
• Audit and Risk Committee (ARC).
This committee is responsible
for ensuring that there is a
robust and independent control
framework across JRF and JRHT.
It ensures compliance with the
risk-management strategy and
that there is best practice in the
approach to internal audit. In 2019,
the committee consisted of three
trustees and three independent
members.
• Resources Committee has
responsibility for oversight of
JRF’s finances and for all corporate
activities that straddle both JRF and
JRHT, such as HR and workforce
matters, IT and technology. In 2019,
the committee consisted of three
trustees and three independent
members.
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• Nominations Committee became
the Nominations and Governance
Committee and is responsible
for ensuring that best practice in
governance is adopted across JRF
and JRHT. It is also responsible for
recommending the appointment of all
members (trustees and independent
members) to trustees. There are up
to five members of the Nominations
Committee, all of whom are trustees.
In addition to the sub-committees
that are shared with JRHT, there are
two further committees that report
directly to JRF Trustees alone.
• Investment Committee. This
committee oversees the management
of the financial investments in line
with any financial and non-financial
objectives or ethical constraints in the
endowment and investment strategy
set by JRF Trustees. The Committee
consists of three Trustees and three
independent members.
• Social Investment Committee.
This committee oversees the
implementation of the social
investment strategy in line with
any financial and non-financial
objectives or ethical constraints in the
endowment and investment strategy
set by JRF trustees. The membership
consists of two trustees, two
members of the executive and three
independent members.
The chair of JRF trustees and chairs
of sub-committees hold annual
member appraisals for all trustees and
independent members.
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Pay and remuneration of key
management personnel is set by
trustees.
All key management personnel
roles have been assessed, formally
graded and assigned a point on an
organisational-wide pay scale. As
necessary, the scale and pay points
of particular roles are externally
benchmarked. In 2019, Trustees
agreed the same flat percentage pay
rise for key management personnel as
other staff members which was based
on a combination of inflation, forecasts
of average future pay rates, sector
insight and affordability.
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Objectives and
activities
JRF shares its vision with the Joseph
Rowntree Housing Trust (JRHT) to
achieve a prosperous UK without
poverty.
JRF and JRHT share a set of values
which are core to the way the
organisations work and are at the
heart of everything that we do. They
show what we care about, help us
make decisions and show us how to
behave together. Our values support
us to deliver our mission to inspire
action and change to solve UK
poverty.
As well as values, JRF and JRHT also
share two common outcomes which
are:
• Everyone has a decent home in a
good place.
• Everyone has good living standards
and prospects.
JRF completed the two-year
transition of its operating model
to a social change organisation in
December 2019. JRF’s strategy to
deliver its vision and mission is:
• Building the public and political will
for the need for change, demand for
solutions, and advocating for those
solutions.
• Developing credible solutions with
people and organisations who have
the power to effect change.
• Holding governments and others
to account for their impact on UK
poverty, positioning JRF as the
leading authority on UK poverty.

| 14

To help us focus our work in the above
areas we have developed the following
specific JRF outcomes:
• More people want to solve poverty,
understand it and take action.
• More people find a route out of
poverty through work.
• More people find a route out
of poverty through a better social
security system.
• More people live in a decent,
affordable home.
Issues of this scale and complexity
are too big to tackle alone. We work
collaboratively alongside people
with lived experience of poverty and
organisations with shared goals to
achieve change. As well as enabling
our own capacity to develop solutions,
we will continue to actively explore
where the activities we set out
can be undertaken by others or in
partnership.
The new JRF operating model is based
on a ‘social change’ approach which
involves identifying the outcome
and measures for success, then
determining the methods, activities,
partnerships and resources which
will best achieve the outcome. In
2019, JRF teams working across
each outcome developed their plans
to deliver these long-term goals
alongside partners and people with
direct experience of poverty, as well
as delivering activity to each of the
outcomes. By the end of 2019, all
outcome plans were approved by
JRF trustees which has set us up
for making the very best use of our
resources.
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Joseph Rowntree set up his trusts to
search out the root causes of social
‘evil’ and influence social advancement

through its research, policy,
collaboration and practical solutions.

FUNDRAISING AND RESERVES POLICIES
The substantial endowment that came
with the establishment of the trusts
means that JRF does not need to
fundraise and does not, therefore,
have a fundraising policy.
Its policy for reserves is to maintain,
in line with inflation, the value of
the endowment. This is the value of
Foundation assets less known liabilities
and at the year-end was £428 million.
Charities Commission guidance
suggests that assets that are not
available to utilise should be excluded
from assessment of free reserves.
For JRF, this means the exclusion of
tangible fixed assets, intangible assets
and social investments. Excluding
these items reduces the free or
unrestricted assets to £419 million.
At the year-end, the value of the free
reserves was £102 million above the
endowment target of £317 million.

On an annual basis, the Resources
Committee considers the funding that
should be made available for grants,
support and governance costs. As part
of this decision-making process, the
committee compares the performance
of the underlying investments over
the previous three years to that
required to continue to meet the
long-term target for the endowment.
Separately, and also on an annual basis,
the Trustees consider the extent to
which funds can be made available
to meet exceptional costs including,
for example, funding one-off internal
or external projects. In this respect,
Trustees have earmarked up to £50
million of the endowment to work with
JRHT to develop 1,000 new homes
over the next 10 years. If this amount
is excluded, the free reserves are £52
million (16%) above the target.
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Measures of success
JRF will continue to measure its success through our impact and achievements
with our overall measure of success as set out in our 2016 strategy ‘We can solve
UK poverty: a strategy for governments, businesses, communities and citizens’.

In 2019 JRF Trustees approved a
new outcomes framework to provide
clarity and focus to our activities, to
track progress, and improve impact.
JRF teams developed long-term
delivery plans which were approved
by JRF Trustees to achieve these
outcomes, so that ‘real-world’ change
is translated into manageable activities.
We are using agile ways of working
to enable us to reassess whether our
activities are working, changing course
as we learn and adapt, and creating a
learning culture with strategic space at
the top.
Our approach to impact means we
are committed to making the very
best use of our resources to achieve
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outcomes. Along with adopting the
outcomes framework, we are ensuring
that all our external funding goes
towards activities that contribute to
our outcome plans. To support this
we have implemented a systematic
evaluation process for funded
projects as well as supporting the
organisation’s wider efforts to ensure
value for money in all areas of our
work. We have only renewed ongoing
commitments such as monitoring
contracts following a review which
assessed their value for money and
contribution to JRF’s strategy.
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How JRF’s activities deliver
public benefit
JRF’s main activities are described in the ‘Significant activities in 2019’ section
- see page 19. Our charitable activities focus on working with others to inspire
action and change to solve UK poverty. We work across the disciplines of evidence
and impact, policy and partnerships, external affairs, economics, advocacy and
public engagement, and across the four nations of the UK.
Trustees have had due regard to guidance on public benefit produced by the
Charity Commission and are of the opinion that undertaking these activities fully
meets the requirements of section 17 of the Charities Act 2011 to deliver public
benefit.

JRF’s values
JRF continues to work with colleagues in JRHT, Corporate Services and Finance to
embed our values which are:
• We’re built on trust – the foundations of all our relationships are grounded
in trust and integrity. We create this trust by making decisions that are based on
evidence.
• We show we care – care comes from a sense of mutual respect, inclusivity and
a big-hearted approach to meeting the needs of our colleagues and partners.
• We make a difference – we use our time and resources effectively and as
individuals we challenge ourselves to create the best outcomes, from briefing an
MP to effecting a change in policy.
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Our vision is for a prosperous UK without poverty

Our mission is
to inspire action
and change to
solve UK poverty

Shared
values
at our
core

Our mission is
to build and develop
strong empowered
communities without
poverty or isolation

Our overarching outcomes:
The change we want to see
Everyone has a decent home in a good place
Everyone has a good living standard and prospects

Built on
trust

Outcomes

Outcomes

Show
we care

More people want to
solve poverty, understand
it and take action.

More people are
independent and well.

Make a
difference

More people find a route
out of poverty through
work.
More people find a route
out of poverty through
a better system of social
security.

More people are shaping
our communities.

Value for
money
informs
all our
decisions
and
actions

More people can improve
their prospects.
More people live in a
decent, affordable home.

More people live in a
decent, affordable home.

A people strategy that creates outstanding places to work
Effective and efficient corporate centre that creates an enabling environment
Structure and governance designed to support effective operations and decision-making
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Significant activities
in 2019
During 2019, our overarching aim
across JRF for our external activity
has been to influence governments,
politicians and political parties to
address and find solutions to the
economic and social concerns and
challenges faced by those living on low
incomes. This has been underpinned
by activity to build long-term public
and political will for change, including
working alongside people with lived
experience of poverty.
In 2019 we had a particular
influencing focus on local growth
policies that help low-paid workers to
escape poverty, and a spending review
which puts in place a system of local
economic growth funding that works
better for Britain’s most deprived
communities. We used evidence to
campaign for the four-year freeze on
working-age benefits to be brought
to an end one year early, and for a
commitment to uprating benefits in
line with at least inflation, but ideally
with earnings.

• Using JRF evidence, influencing
and policy development to contribute
to policy change that benefits people
living in poverty’s grip. This includes
an end to the freeze on workingage benefits from April 2020, and
the creation of a new Scottish Child
Payment – see more on page 23.
• Building up the movement
and voices of people with direct
experience of poverty in public
and political debate. This includes
supporting the formation of new
organisations and increasing the
support for people engaging with
the media.
Across all of our outcome activity in
2019, we built and developed external
relationships and partnerships. We
support the efforts of others towards
shared goals and are strengthening
our work with people who have lived
experience of poverty so they have
a bigger role in public and political
debate.

The key highlights this year included:
• Putting the concerns and interests
of low-income voters at the forefront
of political debate; this contributed
to specific policy commitments. JRF
research informed the attention
focussed on low-income voters
throughout the party conference
season, and in the media during the
run-up to the 2019 General Election.
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Key impacts and
achievements 2019,
by outcome

MORE PEOPLE WANT TO SOLVE POVERTY,
UNDERSTAND IT AND TAKE ACTION
• JRF’s work with partners including the Frameworks Institute on how poverty
is talked about by the public has continued to gain traction. Some of the impacts
include: sector-wide application of the framing strategy, including the use of
frames by politicians across the political spectrum; other powerful messengers
included Church of England bishops. JRF has also been identifying, cultivating
and supporting a number of ‘early adopters’ to quickly apply the framing strategy,
delivering framing exemplars, and building momentum among the sector. Staff
have trained several hundred advocates and communicators on a flexible, ondemand basis. There has also been an increase in the quantity of well-framed
media coverage including headlines, interviews and features. This work aims to
create the conditions under which positive policy change can take place (for an
example see ‘Social Security’, page 23).
• JRF’s manifesto solutions and research fed into the #DoYourDutyForEquality
campaign, which has been calling on political parties to adopt a legal provision
that would obligate government, when making significant policy, to listen to
the voices of those with direct experience of poverty, in a bid to reduce the
inequalities they face. This was included in the Labour Party’s manifesto, where
the pledge built on the campaign’s call by committing to include socio-economic
status as a ‘protected characteristic’, alongside strands such as sex, race and
disability in the 2010 Equality Act. The campaign has also caught the attention
of the UK government’s equality oversight body, the Equality and Human Rights
Commission (EHRC); JRF has met with the Scottish Government to learn about
the similar Fairer Scotland Duty and discuss how we can work together on this
issue.
• JRF coordinated a group of organisations concerned with poverty to write
to MPs warning of the negative consequences on UK poverty levels of a ‘No
Deal’ Brexit, based on JRF analysis, which was quoted in leaked government
documents about ‘Operation Yellowhammer’.
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• JRF led on putting the concerns and interests of people on low incomes at
the forefront of the run-up to the 2019 General Election. Our research report
‘Every Voter Counts: winning over low-income voters’ was covered in The Sun
with a comment piece on what the Conservatives need to do to tackle poverty;
a feature in the Financial Times focussed on it, detailing what people on low
incomes want after Brexit. It also featured in the Sunday Telegraph, Mirror,
Guardian, and broadcast media conversations about why the parties should put
low-income voters first. JRF was featured on Newsnight with a package exploring
the report, underscoring the importance of loosening the grip of poverty to the
political parties directly, a message we have been pushing throughout 2019.
• Our partners at the Centre for Research in Social Policy at Loughborough
University, who produce the Minimum Income Standard (MIS), have been
commissioned by the Scottish Government to use MIS in a measure of fuel
poverty in remote areas of Scotland. This will involve a substantial new study in
2020/21, followed by annual updates including regular analysis of prices and
comparisons with the main MIS for the UK. The Pensions and Lifetime Savings
Association have used MIS in their formal government-endorsed guidance on
how much to save in your pension to achieve an acceptable living standard in
retirement.

MORE PEOPLE FIND A ROUTE OUT OF POVERTY THROUGH WORK
• Our work with ComRes and UK in a Changing Europe on the post-Brexit
priorities of low-income voters in deprived areas received a significant amount
of media coverage, including in the Financial Times (editorial and news section),
the Sun, the Mirror, the Express and the i. Its publication led to a discussion with
the Ministry for Housing Communities and Local Government team preparing
the prospectus on the Government’s Towns Fund. The Secretary of State has
recognised the recommendation JRF made regarding the UK Shared Prosperity
Fund that the UK Government should at the very least match the £2.4 billion a
year that communities currently receive as a result of EU structural funds.
• The Living Wage Foundation launched their Living Hours Initiative – a new
accreditation scheme for Living Wage employers to drive up stability and security
of hours for low-paid workers. JRF has funded and provided expert support
throughout the development of the new pilot scheme. The launch event took
place at Aviva Plc and several employers have already signed up, having an impact
on low-paid workers both directly and in their supply chains.
• The work of the Inclusive Growth Analysis Unit, a partnership between
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JRF and the University of Manchester, was heavily referenced in Greater
Manchester’s Independent Prosperity Review, which influenced the city region’s
Local Industrial Strategy. The strategy incorporates our recommendations to
increase productivity in low-pay sectors and the quality of work more broadly.
• The West Midlands Local Industrial Strategy has put inclusive growth at the
centre of its strategy, adopting ideas around in-work progression and improving
work in low-pay sectors.
• Our Local Industrial Strategies publication resulted in invites to take part in
the expert panels of the Humber, Lincolnshire and West and North Yorkshire
Local Employment Partnership (LEP) expert panels as they developed their local
industrial strategies.
• JRF’s report on transport barriers to employment was quoted extensively
in the Transport for Quality of Life report for the Department for Transport,
describing how transport interventions can help people to access employment.
The report also included an example of one of JRF’s travel-time maps, and
quotes from some of the interviewees in our research.
• JRF has established a new policy co-design project where we have been
working alongside people with experience on co-designing solutions to in-work
poverty. We have successfully brought different expertise together and worked
with people with lived experience as equal partners from problem definition
and solution development right through to advocacy and influencing. This
work has influenced the priorities in our Good Jobs Strategy, delivered some
great blogs about the project and has decided areas for solution development.
We have established an advisory board for the project, with representation
from employers, business organisations and national and local government
representatives.
• The Labour Party committed to ending in-work poverty in one parliament,
quoting JRF in its press release as describing this as ‘the problem of our times’,
and using the ideas from our strategy to solve UK poverty.
• Business in the Community completed its Good Work for All Toolkit case
studies (supported by JRF) and continues to approach this work through
its membership network. The stats from MIS were used by Business in the
Community/Salary Finance to engage with employers and develop a leadership
roundtable event on improving employee benefits for low-paid workers. We had
direct input to a new toolkit for employers which will contribute to improving
employee benefit schemes for low-income employees.
• We published Strathclyde Business School’s report and findings on ‘Influencing
employers so more people break free from poverty through work’. We facilitated
the research team (Colin Lindsay and Patricia Findlay) to present their findings
to a number of key audiences including a dinner at the Scottish National
Party (SNP)’s annual conference, a business roundtable lunch at Standard Life
Aberdeen, and at JRF’s Gamechangers event in Edinburgh to coincide with
Challenge Poverty Week.
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MORE PEOPLE FIND A ROUTE OUT OF POVERTY THROUGH A BETTER
SOCIAL SECURITY SYSTEM
• The Scottish Government announced a new Scottish Child Payment in an
effort to solve child poverty, which JRF contributed to in calling for increased
support, earlier introduction, and developing options alongside intended
beneficiaries.
• JRF led calls for the ending of the benefit freeze, which government
announced would end in April 2020 and re-committed to after a change in
ministerial lead. JRF’s benefit freeze campaign resulted in extensive media
coverage, a Commons debate on DWP spending, and a briefing resulting in
nine MPs from all parties calling for the benefits freeze to end; the leader of the
opposition raised the issue with the Prime Minister at PMQs. With our support,
MPs across parties made ending the freeze an official policy campaign. We
also undertook comprehensive new analysis and issued a new briefing ahead
of the Spring Statement. This received extensive coverage from media outlets
and a range of allies supported our call. As a result of all this work, we met the
secondary aim of the campaign when the Chancellor pledged to Parliament not
to extend the benefit freeze beyond 2020. Neil Gray MP (SNP) mentioned JRF
by name in the House of Commons during the Spring Statement relating to the
benefit freeze. The Work and Pensions Select Committee debate on Universal
Credit led to all the major parties calling to end the freeze now, many of them
directly name-checking JRF. Our name being cited is a strong indication of our
influence in this decision.
• Our joint funding of the Fabian Society’s report ‘Where next? Reforming
social security over the next 10 years’ allowed us to influence the Labour Party’s
thinking on social security policy. The draft report was cited prominently within
the party’s internal review of social security policy. It helped shape leadership
views and those of the team drafting relevant sections of the manifesto. Our
input raised the importance of the role of people with direct experience of
the social security system within the debate. It also helped focus on immediate
policy changes that could make a difference to people living in poverty’s grip,
irrespective of longer-term policy on Universal Credit.
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MORE PEOPLE LIVE IN A DECENT, AFFORDABLE HOME
• Our work as part of the Cover the Cost campaign, alongside direct influencing
with political parties, led to getting commitments to resetting Local Housing
Allowance (LHA) to reflect 30% of local rents into both Labour and Liberal
Democrat manifestos, as well as encouraging DWP to press for it as part of the
next Budget settlement. Work and Pensions minister Will Quince referred to JRF
as a key stakeholder during a debate on the need to end the freeze on the LHA.
• JRF contributed to a powerful Channel 4 feature on bad-quality housing and
highlighted the vital role of systemic issues such as a lack of social housing and
inadequate LHA rates, which was widely shared and commented on.
• Over 2019 we have made links and developed strong relationships with
several lived experience groups focused on housing issues, building coverage
where it was lacking in JRF previously.
• We have successfully brought together a group of major housing organisations
who have agreed we need a better understanding of how the public thinks
about housing, and how to communicate and campaign effectively. The group
has committed to undertaking and using framing research to achieve that. As
part of this, we have been successful in getting Shelter and the National Housing
Federation (NHF) to agree to feed these insights into their planned multi-year,
multi-organisation, high-value social housing campaign.
• JRFs work highlighting the unaffordability of ‘Affordable Rents’ has had an
impact on the debate on affordable housing, and was referred to frequently in the
media throughout the year.
• JRF’s report ‘Poverty in Scotland 2019’ focused on the role of housing during
20 years of devolution, especially the cost of social rents, in contributing to the
significantly lower rate of child poverty in Scotland compared with the rest of the
UK as a whole.
• As the accounts show, grants of £2.7 million were provided during the year to
JRHT.
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Funding process
Annual budgets are approved by Trustees, and teams of staff with a wide range of
skills in research, policy, partnerships, external affairs and engagement, develop
tenders for issues where it is deemed that external provision may be more
beneficial in achieving JRF outcomes. Proposals must be aligned to the strategic
plan, focused on long-term solutions and ensure that JRF has an independent
role to play.
All externally commissioned work is approved as part of an overall strategy for
achieving JRF’s outcomes. In 2019 JRF staff teams have aimed to diversify
sources and partnerships, assuring quality, and demonstrating that value for
money is being obtained from the use of charitable funds.
When JRF commissions activity externally, staff develop and issue calls for
proposals, which are published on the JRF website for open competition or are
sent out to limited tender, depending on how much funding is being offered, what
the call is about, and the knowledge of the sector. Proposals are assessed against
specified criteria, and decisions made according to agreed delegated authorities.
JRF also occasionally funds through direct commissions and complies with tender
exemption processes for this activity.
THE FOLLOWING PROJECTS OVER £50,000
WERE FUNDED BY JRF IN 2019:
INVOLVE – £119,822
Co-designing solutions to in-work poverty
Involve will support the work of a core team of JRF staff and a small number of
people with lived experience of in-work poverty. They will be guided by them
in the delivery of participatory research exploring their experience of in-work
poverty, co-designing solutions and influencing decision-makers.
THE ROWNTREE SOCIETY – £90,000
Funding of the Rowntree Society 2020–2022
JRF has been one of the main supporters of The Rowntree Society. The
Rowntree Society plays an important role in promoting the Rowntree name,
legacy and heritage – primarily in cultural and educational spheres – enhancing
the work of JRF and the other Rowntree trusts. It meets public and research
demands (for example, requests for information about the Rowntree family
and legacy) that JRF could not otherwise meet. This funding will ensure the
continuation of its activities which will help maintain and promote the Rowntree
name, legacy and impact.
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LEGATUM INSTITUTE – £50,000
Social Metrics Commission – campaign and funding strategy 2019/2020
This funding is towards the costs associated with the work of the Social Metrics
Commission (SMC) over the next year, specifically the work of the secretariat
team. The funding will also provide data analysis and research for all SMC reports
and technical papers. The outputs will be the publication of the 2019 SMC report
and a technical paper on equivalisation.
THRIVE TEESSIDE – £60,630
Poverty2Solutions – Phase 3
This project will increase the capacity of three groups led by people with lived
experience of poverty to develop a robust policy recommendation to amplify and
influence at a national level. It will deliver on our outcome for building public and
political will to solve poverty by making more people with direct experience visible
in demanding change.
WEST MIDLANDS COMBINED AUTHORITY – £60,000
Funding for the post of Inclusive Growth Policy and Delivery Officer
Our support of this post in the West Midlands Combined Authority Inclusive
Growth Unit will help deliver on its inclusive growth commitments and prove how
policies can be implemented at a city region level. It includes time dedicated to
JRF to help us gain additional insight into the practical application of an inclusive
growth approach in a different setting.
ON ROAD MEDIA – £66,450
Talking About Poverty/Poverty in the Media
This project is a follow-on to the first-year pilot where On Road Media supported
11 people with lived experience of poverty to grow confidence and skills as
media activists, and to begin to build relationships with journalists. Year two
costs will go towards expanding and diversifying the group to at least 20 people,
bringing in people from different backgrounds, more young people, and people
of different ethnicities and experiences. In addition, they will undertake regular
peer group meetings, multi-media workshops and interactions with at least 25
media professionals in targeted organisations. Monitoring and evaluation will be
undertaken at the end of the project and a report will be produced.
NATIONAL CENTRE FOR SOCIAL RESEARCH – £169,080
British Social Attitudes Income and Inequality modules 2019
This funding is for the British Social Attitudes module on poverty and inequality
for the 2019 survey. This is the gold standard for attitudes research, provides
an extensive time series of data, and enables in-depth analysis of the attitudes
towards various social issues of people in poverty’s grip. This year also includes a
once-a-decade ‘attitudes to inequality’ module that is run across the EU. JRF will
be using the data for its own in-house analyses and monitoring our outcomes on
public attitudes.
| 26

DocuSign Envelope ID: 9F3F4AF3-6849-4C8F-9A2E-A4CABA81C96A

FRAMEWORKS INSTITUTE – £52,000
Frameworks Support March – August 2019
This grant will act as a retainer to fund the continuation of JRF’s relationship
with the Frameworks Institute to apply framing insight to JRF’s partnerships and
content.
FRAMEWORKS INSTITUTE – £52,000
Frameworks support – September 2019 – February 2020
This is a continuation of the agreement previously held with FrameWorks to
enable them to apply framing insights to JRF’s partnerships. This includes
providing intensive framing training and supporting new staff, as well as providing
support on designing creative content to bring the framing recommendations to
life for JRF’s audiences.
HERIOT-WATT UNIVERSITY – £318,661
Destitution in the UK 2020
JRF has so far funded and published two studies of destitution, with I-SPHERE
at Heriot-Watt University. The latest showed that 1.5 million people experienced
destitution during 2017 – a decline of 25% on 2015. The work contributed to
changes to the Universal Credit (UC) debt recovery policy in the 2018 Budget,
and it also raised the profile of destitution as an issue, featuring in the UN
Rapporteur’s report and subsequent coverage in late 2018. A third study has
assessed the level of destitution in 2019, and JRF will publish this in 2020, amid
ongoing concern around food banks, UC rollout and rising homelessness.
THE POVERTY ALLIANCE – £56,058
Challenge Poverty Week 2019
JRF again supported Challenge Poverty Week in Scotland, with the aim of
contributing to changing the conversation about poverty. This will act as a
galvanising force for a range of actors to raise their voice against poverty and
showcase support for solutions to poverty.
HANBURY STRATEGY – £90,975
Connecting with low-income voters
This funding will provide new polling research commissioned to quantify the
distribution and electoral weight of low-income voters in key marginal seats, and
gather insight on the values and messages that resonate with them. A full report
will incorporate findings from other recent JRF research on this demographic and
an official media launch is planned, along with a series of private briefings for MPs.
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THE GUARDIAN – £54,000
Guardian and JRF pitch at Sheffield Doc Fest 2019
This project saw JRF work in collaboration with Guardian News and Media for a
second year on a pitching opportunity at Sheffield Doc Fest in June 2019. The
opportunity invited filmmakers to present ideas for short documentaries about
poverty in the UK that seek to reframe the issue and engage a wide, mainstream
audience.
COMRES – £75,000
What do people want from Brexit?
This work has been co-commissioned with UK in a Changing Europe, which has
contributed £20,000 to help us deliver on our outcome that more people find
a route out of poverty. The project will use focus groups to discover what lowincome voters think the problems are in their local economies, and what could be
done about them to influence the shared prosperity fund and spending review.
TRADE UNION CONGRESS (TUC) – £63,192
Unlocking Britain’s potential
JRF funding and expertise to support the research for a TUC campaign to
develop positive solutions to unite communities post-Brexit. The purpose of
JRF’s involvement is to support this important work, to explore working with
the TUC to include some of our policy asks and broaden their research, and
to influence their campaign framing using knowledge from our work with the
Frameworks Institute.
THE RUNNYMEDE TRUST – £71,115
Reframing race: making the case for race equality changing the conversation
This joint project will conduct original research on the existing messages and
thinking on ‘race’, race equality and racism, and the findings will inform a wider
programme of work to reframe advocacy on these issues.
POVERTY TRUTH NETWORK – £87,000
Poverty Truth Network transition year
Transition funding to the Poverty Truth Commission (PTC) to support Phase 2
of its work and the development of a national structure for the network. The
PTC supports JRF’s goal of more people in poverty influencing policy change at
different levels, and the amplification of demand for change from those affected
by the issues.
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CITIZENS UK – £173,500
Tackling in-work poverty: delivering ‘Living Hours’ alongside a real Living Wage
Living Hours is a new form of accreditation for Living Wage employers to tackle
the issue of stability and number of hours. It is delivered by the Living Wage
Foundation which accredits the voluntary Living Wage. Living Hours has been
developed using JRF funding from our previous strategic plan, and this is a unique
opportunity to support the project further so that more employers are able to
deliver Living Hours.
WELLCOME TRUST – £100,000
Opening knowledge and research across entertainment (OKRE/SREE)
The Science and Research Entertainment Exchange (SREE) is a new centre
of expertise being incubated in the Wellcome Trust. Its mission is to facilitate
collaboration and exchange of knowledge, skills and ideas between research
sectors and entertainment industries to create compelling content that expands
people’s understanding of the world. JRF will be working through SREE to
expand public understanding of poverty through the entertainment industry.
JRF ‘PICTURE BRITAIN’ FUND – £50,000 (exhibition costs)
Our People Our Poverty exhibition
JRF is working in partnership with Comic Relief, each organisation funding
£50,000, to create the Picture Britain exhibition. The collection aims to re-frame
the picture of people locked in poverty and build a better public understanding
of the variety of issues facing people on low incomes. The project aims to start a
much-needed conversation about how we can right the wrong of poverty in our
society.
THE GUARDIAN – £119,384
Made in Britain
JRF is supporting this collaborative filming project, which aims to reframe how we
report on Britain’s social problems. The Guardian will spend a year following the
life of three ordinary towns to uncover what it is like to live, work and grow up in a
place struggling to continue to exist in modern Britain. The project will involve the
local community and be produced in collaboration with local young people from
disadvantaged backgrounds, who The Guardian will train, mentor and co-produce
with. Together they will make a series of up to 12 character-led short films.
ONWARD – £86,000
Repairing our social fabric
JRF is supporting this co-funded project by Onward, the right-of-centre thinktank. It is a two-year project looking at how to boost social, civic and economic
capital in different parts of the UK.
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SUPPORTING THE WIDER COMMUNITY
YORK GRANTS
JRF also supports the York Committee. which makes grants to not-for-profit
organisations to help build and develop strong and empowered communities
without poverty or isolation in York.
The total number of grants awarded by the York Committee during 2019 was
25, with a total value of £124,000. The aim of the grants is to support and
deliver services across the city, particularly within the most deprived wards, and
groups are asked to clearly demonstrate what they have achieved as a result of
the grant award. Reported impacts include benefit payments secured for local
people, people feeling more connected and their wellbeing improved, savings
on fuel bills, and people managing money better. Examples of recipients include
a partnership between Citizens Advice York and Refugee Action York, who are
together providing an accessible advice and support service for refugees, asylum
seekers and migrants in York, and Bellfarm Community Association, which runs
a community club that provides a range of services to local residents, including
access to welfare benefits advice, budgeting and debt management, as well as a
safe space to meet new people and develop new friendships.
The committee also invested £10,000 within a structured programme of learning
and support around understanding impact, delivered by a York-based consultant,
Skyblue Research Ltd. Fourteen organisations in receipt of small grants from the
York Committee initially enrolled to take part and the aim of the programme was
for these organisations to benefit from developing their ability to understand
and talk more confidently about ‘impact’, ‘evidence’ and their ‘story of change’.
Participants reported having a very positive experience during the programme,
highlighting several learning points and the group also posed a number of
questions for funders to consider and explore in collaboration, such as whether
funders can work together to co-produce reporting processes.
HARTLEPOOL ACTION LAB
The Hartlepool Action Lab (HAL) brings together local people and organisations
to develop solutions to poverty in Hartlepool. In 2019, JRF’s grants to HAL came
to a total of £65,000.
In 2019, HAL continued the work initiated in 2018 through the £1 Million
Challenge as well as the housing and community development projects created
through collaborative social action in earlier years. HAL also initiated new strands
of work through additional resources secured through the National Lottery
Community Fund (NLCF) / Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS)
Place Based Social Action (PBSA) programme (we are one of 10 projects
supported through PBSA nationally).
The £1 Million Challenge sought to put more in people’s pockets either through
additional benefits secured or money saved on household essentials, such as food
and energy. This stretching target had been set in 2017, and was achieved in
November 2019, providing key financial resources for people caught in food, fuel
and financial hardship. In addition to the challenge, our monthly Food and Fuel
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Fairs supported people to cook less expensively, and connected them, through
the presence of partner agencies, to sources of support, savings or income.
The Housing Heroes project enables young care leavers to have a stake in
developing their own home and living space by refurbishing a terraced property
in central Hartlepool, purchased through a JRF social investment. Spring 2019
saw the completion of the first Housing Heroes property with four young people
moving in as supported tenants. Each of the young people has made good
progress, including volunteering on other Action Lab projects. A second property
is being worked on.
HAL’s Stronger Neighbourhoods work in the Oxford Road community started
in summer 2019 with Oxfest, a local street party. This event built links with local
people and has led to lots of opportunities and ideas to help rejuvenate the area.
An ‘engagement team’ involving the HAL staff, partners and volunteers worked
over the autumn to build relationships and trust in the community. Plans are in
motion for a participatory budgeting process to involve local people in making
choices about which pieces of social action they wish to support to improve the
neighbourhood. There are also discussions underway with Hartlepool Borough
Council about a potential ‘community house’ as a focal point for community
action and engagement.
Grants of £2.7m (2018 – £4.3m) were provided during the year to JRHT in
respect of the costs of maintaining heritage assets, exceptional works to improve
the safety of properties, funding for a bursary scheme within its care services and
general revenue support.
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Social investment
Since 2015, £15 million of JRF’s endowment has been allocated to fund social
investment. In 2019, JRF had committed more than £10 million of this allocation
across 22 investments.
The social investments are a mix of direct and fund investments, supporting
organisations that are operating in areas which align with JRF’s overarching
charitable mission. Social investments are expected to deliver a financial as well
as a social return. However, the overriding purpose of the commitments is to
contribute towards the achievements of JRF’s charitable purposes.
In 2019, JRF was engaged in the following social investments. The figures
correspond to the total amounts committed to each investee as at 31 December
2019.
AFFORDABLE HOUSING
ASHLEY COMMUNITY HOUSING (ACH) – £200,000
ACH provides a resettlement service for refugees in the West of England and
the West Midlands. It helps its tenants achieve stability in their lives by providing
supportive housing and a bespoke training course comprising language, culture,
health and personal finance training. JRF has committed funding for ACH to
purchase houses in Birmingham to rent to refugees and further accelerate
housing availability.
FUNDING AFFORDABLE HOMES (FAH) – £500,000
FAH is a social impact investment fund launched in 2015 investing in general
needs and specialist affordable housing in the UK. Its social purpose is to increase
the provision of good quality affordable housing to improve the lives of people in
social need. In 2019 FAH had invested in 11 housing projects across the UK.
HARTLEPOOL HOUSING HEROES – £75,000
The Housing Heroes project, ran by Hartlepool NDC Trust in partnership with
JRHT and the Hartlepool Action Lab, aims to purchase properties for young
care leavers to refurbish and move in to, and supports the young people in their
transition to adulthood. JRF’s social investment has helped fund the purchase of
a property in Hartlepool, in which four young care leavers are living.
LONDON COMMUNITY LAND TRUST (CLT) – £100,000
London CLT is a not-for-profit CLT that works with teams of local residents to
create permanently affordable homes that are priced according to local income
and are owned and run by local people. JRF has committed investment to help
London CLT finance the provision of around 100 affordable homes in the capital.
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NATIONAL HOMELESSNESS PROPERTY FUND – £500,000
The National Homelessness Property Fund provides move-on accommodation
for people at risk of homelessness. The fund has purchased homes in Oxford,
Bristol, and Milton Keynes, and works with the homelessness charity St Mungo’s
to support tenants so that they can eventually transition into the private rented
sector.
YORK REFUGEE HOUSING – £500,000
JRF has committed this investment to purchase homes for Syrian refugees in
York. These properties are to provide housing for the most vulnerable refugees,
such as those with disabilities, who would otherwise struggle to access suitable
accommodation in York.
SOCIAL IMPACT FUNDS
BIG ISSUE INVEST SOCIAL ENTERPRISE INVESTMENT FUND II (SEIF II) –
£500,000
SEIF II is a social impact fund that supports social enterprises and charities with
sustainable business models across the UK that are seeking to grow and enhance
their social impact. The fund has invested in organisations operating in areas
such as social care, early years education, financial inclusion, mental health and
employment.
BRIDGES EVERGREEN – £500,000
Bridges Evergreen is a vehicle that makes long-term investments in for-profit
organisations with a clear social mission, helping them to grow and enhance their
impact. In 2019, Bridges Evergreen invested in four organisations operating
across impact areas including fuel poverty, affordable housing, healthcare for the
elderly, and care for young people with complex needs.
FAIR BY DESIGN – £3,000,000
Research has demonstrated that low income households can pay more for goods
and services, such as access to credit and utility charges. This is known as the
poverty premium. The Fair by Design Venture Fund is a £10 million fund set up
by JRF and Big Society Capital in 2015 to invest in early-stage ventures that find
fairer ways to serve low-income consumers, tackling the poverty premium in key
sectors such as financial services, energy, insurance, and food/household goods.
MUSTARD SEED – £500,000
JRF has invested in a managed account, run by the principle investor Mustard
Seed, which invests in for-profit social purpose enterprises working to tackle
poverty in the UK.
NORTH EAST SOCIAL INVESTMENT FUND (NESIF) – £500,000
NESIF is a social impact fund that supports charities and social enterprises across
the North East of England. Investments are made with the aim of increasing or
protecting an organisation’s ability to deliver social impact. In 2019 the fund had
made 21 investments spanning impact areas including social care and mental
health.
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FINANCIAL INCLUSION
BRISTOL CREDIT UNION – £350,000
Bristol Credit Union is a community credit union with a strong growth track
record since its inception in 2006. It is committed to continuing to serve the
community in Bristol, Bath and surrounding areas. JRF has committed funding to
Bristol Credit Union to help it generate further economies of scale and deliver
greater levels of social impact.
FAIR FINANCE – £135,000 (originally £180,000 prior to restructuring)
Fair Finance provides microlending and financial advice to individuals excluded
from mainstream banking. It provides a cheaper alternative to high-cost shortterm lenders and is particularly focused on serving areas of high need in London.
The social impact is significant as without the service beneficiaries would need to
rely on high-cost credit.
FAIR FOR YOU – £500,000
JRF has committed funding to Fair For You, which offers loans for the purchase of
white goods and other essential household goods as an alternative to the highcost rent-to-buy model. This has enabled low-income and vulnerable consumers
to benefit from the provision of flexible, low-cost credit to meet their living needs.
FIVE LAMPS – £500,000
JRF has invested in the microlending business of Five Lamps, which is based in the
North East of England. Five Lamps helps its customers avoid reliance on highcost debt and develop positive credit histories through the provision of low-cost
flexible loans.
LEEDS CITY CREDIT UNION – £250,000
Leeds City Credit Union is one of the largest credit unions in the UK, providing
financial services including instant savings accounts and access to affordable credit.
MONEYLINE – £500,000
Moneyline is a microfinance provider operating through a network of branches
in the North of England and South Wales, as well as a growing telephone lending
service. Moneyline’s aim is to serve the 20% lowest income households in the UK
with short-term credit and small sum savings accounts.
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SPECIALIST
GLASGOW TOGETHER – £250,000
Glasgow Together works to create full-time employment opportunities for
ex-offenders in the construction sector by building new affordable homes and
bringing empty properties back into use. JRF has provided investment for the
organisation to purchase and sell affordable homes. Glasgow Together is part
of the Together Group, which operates equivalent models in the Midlands and
Bristol.
REFUAID – £210,000
RefuAid helps those with refugee status in the UK access language tuition,
education, finance, and employment. Its Access Loan scheme provides support
by offering interest free loans of up to £10,000 for refugees to pay for UK
accreditation, requalification, or training, thereby facilitating people to return to
employment in their professional fields.
SHARED LIVES INVESTMENTS – £350,000
Shared Lives Investments is a fund launched in 2015 by Social Finance as a
proof of concept to help expand Shared Lives care in England, enabling a greater
number and variety of vulnerable adults to access high quality community care.
Its aim is to overcome barriers restricting the growth of Shared Lives, central to
which are a lack of investment and a lack of Shared Lives-specific expertise
TIMEWISE – £250,000
JRF has invested in Timewise, a social consultancy working to unlock the flexible
jobs market in the UK to enable those who need flexibility to find good-quality
jobs. By tackling the lack of decent flexible work Timewise aims to reduce in-work
poverty and gender inequality. Timewise works with public and private employers
across complex sectors such as teaching and nursing to design fully flexible roles
at all levels. It is positioned as the leading change agent for flexible working and
hiring in the UK.
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Organisational development
JRF’s transition programme in 2018–
19 aimed to achieve:
• An outcome-oriented social
change organisation, with all of
our internal support services also
aligned and designed to deliver to our
outcomes and value for money.
• A motivated staff team, clear about
how JRF is contributing to real world
change, and able to utilise our skills
and talents to achieve outcomes while
living our values and behaviours.
• An agile organisation able to assess,
adapt and change course, with staff
who are confident about advocating
for change if our resources can be
used to better effect.
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• Working alongside people and
organisations with direct experience
of poverty as a mainstreamed part of
how JRF works.
A comprehensive report was received
by JRF trustees in December 2019
on the completion of the transition
programme. Having completed staff
restructuring in 2018 to support its
new operating model, in 2019 JRF
began trialling multi-disciplinary
working, learning from approaches to
matrix to enable the best use of JRF
resources and staff skills. In 2020 JRF
will move to matrix working to achieve
outcome delivery.
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ENABLING ENVIRONMENT
During 2019, central services made
significant progress towards their
outcomes of creating an enabling
environment for JRF and JRHT,
delivering the people strategy and
providing efficient and effective central
services.
We migrated our technology
infrastructure to the cloud which
has provided more efficient access
to systems for staff as well as giving
much greater technical security in
response to ever increasing cyber
threats. We have also delivered full
enterprise mobility, by providing
access to email and core systems for
all staff through a web landing page. A
newly created business change team
has led our work to develop a culture
of continuous improvement through
working with teams to deliver change
and embed learnings from our work.
Our annual people plan has seen us
systematically embed our values and
behaviours that were launched in
2018, making them an integral part
of our recruitment processes, staff
reward and recognition schemes
and performance management
framework. This has been highly
successful with staff reflecting in our
staff survey in the autumn that they
understand and align with our values
and behaviours. We have also made
significant progress with our equality,
diversity and inclusion plan. Our
campaigns, such as a focus on Black
History Month and International Day

of People with Disabilities, have been
well received by staff, and in December
we secured Disability Confident
Employer accredited status at the first
level.
There has been ongoing focus on
value for money across our central
services during 2019. For example, we
have upgraded our invoice processing
system by introducing document
management leading to more efficient
processes, and driven down the cost
of recruitment through better use
of online advertising platforms. We
are committed to ensuring that all
our internal services add value to the
organisation.
A review of our procurement services
during 2019 identified opportunities
to support managers in delivering
even more value for money with
some significant contracts already
in place. Informed by our users and
stakeholders, 2019 has also seen
significant improvements in our
financial planning and reporting
across JRF, JRHT and externally.
This is enabling decisions to be
made promptly, business cases for
new housing developments to be
developed more accurately, and highquality financial information to be
published in a fraction of the time it
took in 2018.
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Risk
Trustees own risks and are responsible
for setting the risk appetite of the
organisation, and all staff have a
responsibility to identify and manage
risk throughout JRF. The Risk
Management Strategy is updated and
approved by trustees annually.
It is the responsibility of the executive
to identify the corporate risks, which
are reported to the Audit and Risk
Committee and reviewed at monthly
directors’ meetings. The corporate
risks are those which the directors
collectively monitor. Operational risks
are monitored by the senior leadership
team of JRF and escalated to the
corporate risk register as needed.
The new risk register format
introduced in 2018 was further rolled
out in 2019 with a specific JRF risk
register being introduced. These
JRF operational risks are reported
quarterly to JRF trustees starting in
Q1 2019.
Each risk is assessed for its likelihood
and its impact both before and after
controls (‘inherent risk’ and ‘residual
risk’). Controls are identified together
with responsibility for management of
each risk. Where necessary, actions to
improve the management of the risks
are identified.
JRF has identified the following
major risks, listed in the bullet points
below. They are held in a corporate
risk register shared with JRHT, and
categorised under: Reputation,
Compliance and Regulation, Finance,
Investment, Social Investment,
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Operational/Service Delivery,
Property Developments, Research,
Solutions, Other Major Change
Activities, and People and Culture.
• Any incident that risks the
credibility of, and trust in, the
organisation. A well-developed
strategy and business plan ensure
that our activity is strongly aligned
to our vision and outcomes. A
Communications and Influencing
strategy sets out how JRF and JRHT
need to communicate and influence
in a changing context, and draws
on extensive internal and external
analysis of current strengths and
weaknesses. We have an agreed
divergent goal for JRF in Scotland
following Government changes.
• The trustee board may not
exercise proper challenge and
scrutiny of the strategic and
business plans due to inappropriate
structures and/or skills and
experience. JRF and JRHT trustees
meet as distinct, separate bodies.
The Audit and Risk Committee meets
on a regular basis and governance
is centrally coordinated, including
annual reviews of terms of reference
and effectiveness of each committee.
We have effective and targeted
recruitment of trustees to bring
particular skillsets, as well as ongoing
development for committee members
to ensure their knowledge is current.
All trustees have an annual appraisal.
We have a governance handbook
which is provided to all trustees and
independent members, which is a

DocuSign Envelope ID: 9F3F4AF3-6849-4C8F-9A2E-A4CABA81C96A

guide to their role and responsibilities
and outlines our expectations of
them. We do however, recognise the
challenges the structure presents, and
so are becoming incorporated as two
distinct legal entities effective from 1
January 2020 to address the issue of
unclear structures.
• Failure to comply with any
regulators’ requirements. A review
of compliance responsibilities
across JRF and JRHT took place
before incorporation. We received
updated legal advice on regulated
campaign activities. The Audit and
Risk Committee has oversight of
regulation/inspection reports as well
as actions arising from both internal
and external audits. Leadership teams
review compliance at their monthly
meetings.
• Failure to work or behave
safely that could lead to the
death or serious injury, or harm
to mental health and wellbeing,
of an employee, resident, visitor,
contractor or member of the
public or the abuse or neglect of
a vulnerable resident. The Head
of Health, Safety and Facilities has
oversight of the health and safety
action plan and procedures, reporting
to the executive monthly and
escalating sooner if needed. Policies
are in place covering safeguarding,
vulnerability and health and safety. A
staff training programme also exists
which includes health and safety
matters starting at staff induction. A
risk, quality and compliance group is

in operation across teams which can/
does escalate risks to the corporate
risk register as required.
• Operations may be disrupted
by external factors not within
our control, (including threat of
pandemic). A corporate emergency
protocol is in place with local disaster
recovery and business continuity
plans developed at department
and operational level. An Incident
Response team was established to
deal with the emergency response to
coronavirus and business continuity
plans have been successfully
implemented as we continue to
deliver frontline services, and our
office based staff mobilised to work
from home where possible.
• Failure to comply with GDPR,
other UK laws, sector specific
regulations and contracts relating
to data and technology. We have
information governance and security
policies in place alongside an
information governance framework.
We have a dedicated information
security manager, who works closely
with sector specific compliance
managers. Data protection training is
mandatory for all staff.
• Lack of departmental readiness
(business continuity plans) to
deal with unplanned outages
and emergencies. A corporate
emergency protocol is in place with
local plans in place for specific office
sites. Emergency contact details are
updated in our HR system.
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• Increase in the number of
staff leaving the organisation and
difficulty/challenge in recruiting
due to geographical issues, labour
market or skills shortages. Volume
of turnover and reasons for leaving
are monitored monthly by the
executive. A recruitment manager is
in post, bringing specialist knowledge
to the organisation and with a
specific focus to manage an ongoing
recruitment campaign. External
benchmarking is undertaken as
required to identify appropriate salary
level in line with our reward strategy.
• Failure to deliver the strategic
plan and costed business plans due
to work overload, especially stretch
and capacity in the executive team.
The project management office
and business change team are a
dedicated resource to deliver, report
and measure initiatives that support
the strategic and business plans. We
established a joint approach to the
business planning process with finance
and projects from the 2018/2019
cycle. We have quarterly director
reviews of project capacity to ensure
change and resource levels are at the
desired levels.
• Staff do not have the skills and/
or experience to fulfil their roles
effectively and to the right quality. A
learning and development programme
is run which addresses skills gaps. The
learning and development section of
the ‘My Review’ process instigates
a learning needs assessment, and
subsequent planning of training.
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• Investments fail to deliver the
total return that is required to
meet the financial objectives.
JRF has an investment strategy
with an emphasis on real assets.
There is an annual review of asset
allocation every four to five years
and a financial planning mechanism
has been established to guide the
level of resources available. Available
income is established by reference
to performance over three years and
stress testing is conducted of financial
plans to extreme conditions. Our
Investment Committee is informed
by independent members and a
contracted independent adviser. An
endowment and investment strategic
review is underway. Trigger points
for escalation to directors and the
Investment Committee are in place.
• Cost of pension increases. The
defined benefits scheme is now closed
and only a defined contributions
pension option is available to staff.
General legal and professional advice
has been obtained to ensure there is
no crystallisation of the s75 liability,
including during the process of
incorporation. The increase in the
deficit liability is in line with what
was modelled in the long-term
endowment model and financial plan,
albeit structured differently. We have
specialist pension advisers in place. A
flexible apportionment deed agreed
with the Social Housing Pension
Scheme mitigated the risk of s75
triggering as a result of incorporation.
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• Failure of a social investment
loses money and damages our
reputation. An investment policy is
in place with risk assessment as a key
part of assessment. There are good
links to JRF outcomes with input and
understanding on initial assessment.
There is monitoring of investments
both regular and intensive as
needed. There is a ‘red, amber, green’
rating of investments reviewed and
updated at the management pipeline
and monitoring meeting, and also at
Social Investment Committee which
reports directly to trustees. There is
agility in our ability to make faster offcycle decisions to minimise specific
risks. Interim arrangements are in
place to cover the gap created by the
Head of Social Investment and Social
Investment Manager vacancies in the
short term. An Investment Portfolio
Manager has been appointed and all
internal audit actions for 2019 have
been completed.

A specific risk register containing the
risks relating to the UK’s exit from the
EU is in operation and is shared with
JRHT. It continues to be monitored by
a cross-departmental working group
during the transition period, which
escalates matters to the executive
through the Director of Corporate
Services as needed.
A specific risk register has also been
developed to capture risks associated
with the coronavirus threat. This is
regularly reviewed and updated by
executive directors from JRHT and
JRF with actions monitored and
completed accordingly.
The trustees have considered the risks
to which the organisation is exposed
and have taken appropriate steps
to mitigate these risks, as described
above.
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Financial Review
TRUSTEES’ POWERS AND RESERVES POLICY
The trustees have power to spend both income and capital. There are no
restricted or designated reserves and all JRF’s capital is regarded as free reserves.
OBJECTIVES
JRF’s financial objectives are:
• To maintain the level of expenditure on achieving its mission and outcomes.
• To ensure that the value of JRF capital is maintained in real terms over the
long term.
The trustees monitor the level of the endowment against the target on a
quarterly basis. The endowment’s performance against the long-term target is
the key factor in determining the sustainable level of spending.
INVESTMENT POLICY AND STRATEGY
The majority of JRF’s investments are
held as financial investments, although
trustees have decided to allocate up to
5% of the fund for social investments.
The objective for JRF’s financial
investments is to maximise the ‘total
return’ over the long term, subject
to not taking undue risk. This ‘total
return’ represents the combination of
changes in capital values and income
received. Thus, a neutral position
is taken as to whether a return is
received by way of capital growth or
distribution of income: it is the total
which is important.
We have determined that investment
in real assets, principally equities,
represents the most appropriate
strategy for meeting JRF’s financial
and investment objectives. As the
chart below shows, equities account
for almost 85% of the investment
portfolio.
Trustees appreciate that this approach

| 42

will result in short-term volatility in
the market value of the portfolio, but
it considers that the organisation’s
financial strength and absence of
significant fixed liabilities means
that JRF is well able to withstand
such fluctuations. The Investment
Committee reviews the asset
allocation policy on at least an annual
basis, taking appropriate professional
advice.
Although the financial investments
are designed to maximise returns, JRF
believes strongly in investing its funds
responsibly. We define ‘responsible
investment’ as an investment
approach which is based on the view
that the effective management of
environmental, social and governance
(ESG) issues is not only the right
thing to do but is also fundamental
to creating value. We believe that
companies which are successful in
avoiding ESG risks and / or capturing
ESG opportunities will outperform
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over the longer term. This longerterm view is consistent with JRF’s
investment time horizon.
JRF seeks to incorporate ESG issues
fully in its investment activities. We do
this by:
• Including an assessment of the
approach to responsible investment
in the selection of fund managers
and subsequent monitoring of their
performance.
• Authorising fund managers to
exercise the vote with JRF shares
in accordance with agreed policies
but subject to an over-ride by JRF
in circumstances where there would
be a conflict with JRF’s charitable
objectives.

• Within available resources,
engaging with companies on ESG
issues and also those issues which
are directly relevant to the strategic
priorities and work of JRF. This
engagement may be through the
fund managers or in partnership with
other investors. We are members of
the Charities Responsible Investment
Network.
JRF also follows an ethical investment
policy within the overarching theme
of responsible investment. JRF does
not invest in stocks and shares in
companies which are significantly
associated with the manufacture of
armaments, tobacco, brewing and
gambling. ‘Significant’ is defined as
10% of either profits or turnover.

The asset allocation at the end of 2019 was:
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2019 Accounts and financial
performance
BALANCE SHEET
2019

2018

£000

£000

2,725

2,702

441,343

394,727

(3,423)

841

(404)

(570)

Pension liability

(12,409)

(12,089)

Foundation capital

427,832

385,611

Fixed assets (tangible and intangible)
Investments (market value)
Net current (liabilities) / assets, excluding
pension liabilities
Long-term creditors, net of pension

The reduction in net current assets shown in the table above simply reflects the
movement in cash balances held outside of the investment portfolio.
The value of JRF’s investments increased significantly in 2019 reflecting the
strong performance of equity markets around the world. In part, the increase
reflects a bounce back from the relatively poor performance of markets in 2018
which saw capital losses on JRF investments of £8 million. The year-end positions
are after allowing for spending of capital in the year as shown in the Statement of
Financial Activities (below).
The endowment, which is the value of the investment portfolio less outstanding
liabilities, increased from £386 million to £428 million. This is a 11% increase over
the year and remains 35% ahead of JRF’s internal target. This is the primary key
performance indicator for financial performance, although individual investment
manager performance is tracked against agreed benchmarks.
The trustees have agreed that up to £50 million of the investment portfolio
should be ring-fenced to help fund the future development of new affordable
housing.
Since the end of 2019, markets have been particularly volatile as the economic
effects of the coronavirus pandemic start to emerge. At the end of March, the
value of JRF’s investments had fallen to £367 million – equivalent to 17%. JRF
invests for the long-term and, despite the volatility, the portfolio value remains in
excess of the target set by trustees.
A chart showing the long-term performance of the endowment versus the target
is provided below:
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
2019

2018

£000

£000

7,928

8,350

Grant commitments

(5,841)

(7,898)

Support and governance costs

(7,822)

(6,909)

Cost of raising funds

(6,271)

(5,564)

-

(2,975)

Total expenditure

(19,934)

(23,346)

Net expenditure, funded from capital

(12,006)

(14,996)

(1,259)

-

(195)

-

Gains / (losses) on investments

55,681

(8,401)

Net movement in funds

42,221

(23,397)

Total income

(Increase) / decrease in pension liability

Actuarial loss in respect of pension scheme
Re-measurement of pension scheme obligations

The audited financial statements can be found on the JRF website at www.jrf.org.
uk. The financial statements have also been filed with the Charity Commission.
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PENSIONS
For the year ended 31 December 2019, JRF was able, for the first time, to
identify its share of assets and liabilities held within the defined benefit element
of the industry-wide Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS). The defined
benefit option has been withdrawn for JRF colleagues although there continue
to be legacy members – these are a combination of current staff, deferred
members and those who have drawn their pension. With the availability of this
new data from SHPS, JRF has applied defined benefit accounting, which means
that the scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities on an actuarial
basis. This change has resulted in a new pension liability of £12.4 million being
included on the balance sheet reflecting the difference between the asset and
liability positions. The creditor that was being held in respect of future deficit
contributions is no longer required (£12.1 million in 2018).
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GOING CONCERN
The financial statements show that:
• At the end of 2019, the charity had investments of £441.3 million compared
to its annual expenditure of £19.9 million.
• Unrestricted capital reserves increased during the year by £42.2 million to
£427.8 million as a result of gains on quoted investments.
• The vast majority of the investment portfolio (85%) is invested in global
equities. As such, these funds are relatively easy to access.
• The charity has no debt.
In December 2019, JRF’s trustees formally approved the charity’s budget for
2020 as well as reviewed indicative budgets for 2021 and 2022. Separately, a
cash flow forecast was prepared covering the period to the end of 2021. This is
routinely used to ensure that cash balances together with scheduled drawdowns
from investment portfolios are sufficient to meet planned expenditure. The
arrangements with investment managers allow the amounts scheduled to be
drawn down to be reduced or increased at short notice should cash requirements
change.
Given the nature of JRF’s activities, its costs are not expected to be materially
impacted by the covid-19 pandemic although some planned expenditure is being
re-purposed to provide grant funding in support of its ‘Community Response
to Covid-19’ programme. This involves contributing to, typically national,
organisations that are in need of emergency funding, providing additional grants.
and support to JRF’s current partners which it is working with on mission-related
activities and finding ways to amplify the voices of those in poverty who are most
likely to be adversely impacted by the pandemic. There is no expectation that the
2020 budget will be revised upwards.
Inevitably, the fall in stock markets around the world as a result of the covid-19
pandemic has impacted the value of JRF’s investment portfolio. There was a sharp
drop in asset values during March with a partial recovery during April. As at the
end of April, the portfolio was valued at £396.4 million compared with the 2019
year-end position of £441.3 million. This, however, remained above JRF’s longterm endowment target set by trustees.
In response to the uncertainties arising from the covid-19 pandemic that are
impacting on all organisations, management has reviewed the forecasts prepared
in December 2019 and, in addition:
• produced a stressed cash flow forecast to test that, in all situations, JRF will
have access to sufficient funds to meet its commitments; and
• satisfied itself that it will continue to be possible to draw funds down from its
investment portfolio even in a stressed scenario.
The results of this work have informed the going concern assessment that
has been shared with the Audit and Risk Committee. On the basis of this
going concern assessment and having recognised the security provided by the
significant investment holdings, the Audit and Risk Committee has recommended
to the trustees that the going concern basis is appropriate for the preparation of
the 2019 financial statements.
The accounting policies within the notes to the financial statements also set out
why the trustees believe it is appropriate to adopt a going concern basis for the
preparation of the 2019 accounts.
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Plans for the future
Our overall JRF objective is to achieve
a prosperous UK without poverty by
inspiring action and change through
our strategy of:
• Building public and political will
for the need for change and for our
solutions
• Developing credible solutions to
the root causes of poverty
• Holding governments and others
to account for their impact on
poverty.
Our 2020 JRF objective will be that
public and political focus on people
trapped in poverty is maintained under
the new UK government, helping
achieve a significant, practical and
positive policy response to poverty in
2020. In Scotland, we aim to support
the achievement of the child poverty
targets (18% by 2023/24 and 10%
by 2030/31). Our objective for
JRF’s internal ongoing development
in embedding our operating model
changes is to focus on what we really
need to improve, so that we effectively
and efficiently achieve our outcomes.
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Climate change is of grave concern
around the world, and JRF and JRHT
have a strong record of activity in
making a positive contribution to
the evidence on climate change and
social justice, as well as practically
through our sustainable housing
development Derwenthorpe, in York.
In 2020 JRF, together with JRHT, will
be considering our impact and how
we can maximise our contribution to a
more sustainable planet through our
services, activities, and investments.
Within each of our four outcomes,
we have specific programmes of work
underway.
Since the start of the covid-19 crisis
we have reviewed our objectives and
plans for the rest of 2020. Our overall
strategy remains intact but we have
adapted some elements of our work
plan to meet the changed conditions.
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MORE PEOPLE WANT TO SOLVE POVERTY,
UNDERSTAND IT AND TAKE ACTION
We will:
• Support the development of a
grassroots movement of people with
lived experience of poverty to solve
UK poverty, learning from experience
and evolving our approach.
• Work with people who have lived
experience of poverty so we have a
stronger role in public debate aimed
at solving UK poverty.
• Work with social influencers
beyond traditional media to change
public attitudes on poverty.
• Develop and deliver a public
engagement strategy to change public
attitudes on poverty.
• Build political will for change at
UK level, and in the four nations, and
work with governments on solutions
(for example, in Scotland) where the
momentum is there.

• As well as developing practical
solutions, we will seed big ideas to
solve UK poverty, and confront the
assumptions underpinning current
approaches which act as a barrier to
solving poverty.
• Hold governments and others
(for example, providers) to account
for their actions on poverty across
the four nations, and provide the
evidence including data which drives
understanding and action to solve
poverty.
• Provide commentary and
recommendations for action on policy
changes which are affecting people
trapped in poverty here and now,
and seize opportunities presented
by the external environment which
could improve prospects for people in
poverty’s grip.

• We will build political will amongst
influential stakeholders including
politicians and businesses to solve UK
poverty, and for our solutions.
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MORE PEOPLE FIND A ROUTE OUT OF POVERTY THROUGH WORK
We will:
• Work with others to develop policy
solutions aimed at government, local
authorities and employers, based
around good jobs and focusing on
hours, conditions and progression.
• Develop a national economic
narrative about how the UK can
progress to a higher-wage, higherproductivity economy with fewer
people trapped in poverty, and
build relationships with influential
economists to develop and advance
the narrative.
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• Develop a network of champions
and leaders (at all levels) for putting
poverty reduction into practice
through inclusive growth, and build
learning and solutions across local
areas in the four nations on how to
achieve it.
• Over time we will build the
political will in city regions and local
authorities who are not taking on
inclusive growth (for example, any
new mayors) to do so.
• Work with businesses and investors
on the actions they can take to tackle
in-work poverty in the UK.
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MORE PEOPLE FIND A ROUTE OUT OF POVERTY
THROUGH A BETTER SOCIAL SECURITY SYSTEM
We will:
• Shift public thinking so that a
poverty-fighting social security
system is seen as an essential public
service.
• Improve the social security system
so that the voice and power of users
is at the heart of decisions.

• Improve the current system,
picking targets that enable us to
make the broader case for investment
in social security, while weighing
up greatest need, achievability and
alignment to principles.

MORE PEOPLE LIVE IN A DECENT, AFFORDABLE HOME
We will:
• Work with partners to generate
new policy solutions to reduce the
number of households locked in
poverty by their housing costs, and to
make the political and economic case
for them.
• Work with partners with direct
experience of poverty to develop
and campaign for policies to reduce
the number of households trapped

in poverty who are moving, or worry
about having to move, involuntarily.
• Work with an advocate alliance
to increase public demand to act on
housing issues that affect those who
are locked in poverty by developing
and implementing an evidence-based
communications strategy.
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We will pilot and pioneer new ways to
develop solutions, building in public
attitudes and will. We will include
stakeholders and people with lived
experience, and will use principles of
service design to evidence, test, and
learn. We will build public and political
will for our solutions and address the
uneven risks of poverty that people
face due to where they live or their
ethnicity, gender, or disability, in our
monitoring and solutions areas. We
will make the links between solutions
areas (for example housing and work)
and use our monitoring to hold an
overview of UK poverty and new risks.
JRF will have a profile and presence in
the four nations of the UK, through its
presence in Scotland, its partnership
with the Bevan Foundation in Wales,
and its adviser and presence in
Northern Ireland. These relationships
benefit both JRF and our collaborators
in many ways, such as:
• The insight and learning coming
into JRF at a UK level means our
profile and authority is based on an
understanding of poverty in each
nation of the UK. In addition to this,
the insight and learning from UK
developments can be shared with each
nation.
• Nations contributing to outcome
planning, so that outcome plan
delivery benefits from specialisms and
opportunities within places.
• Adaptation of outcome
achievement in each nation so delivery
reflects opportunities, which will vary
within each nation.
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We will deliver our plans actively
using our values (we are built on
trust, we show we care, and we make
a difference) by producing highquality evidence designed for impact.
We will root our approaches in the
grounded, lived experience of people
and communities affected, drawing on
the expertise in JRF and JRHT to do
so. We will use an integrated approach
to social investment and housing
development to deliver outcomes.
To achieve these goals, we need to be
a leading authority on UK poverty, with
a higher national public profile and a
powerful identity, to help bring about a
sea change in the country’s approach
to poverty. We will transform our
external channels and ways of working
to maximize our ability to achieve
outcomes.
Our plans will be kept under review
so that as opportunities arise and new
movements form, we can be responsive
to those chances to achieve outcomes.
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Trustees’ statement
of responsibility
The trustees are responsible for
preparing the Trustees’ Annual
Report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and
regulations.
The Charities Act 2011 requires
the trustees to prepare financial
statements for each financial year.
The trustees have to prepare the
financial statements in accordance
with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United
Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicable law), including FRS 102
The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland. The trustees must not approve
the financial statements unless they
are satisfied that they give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the
charity and of the incoming resources
and application of resources, including
the income and expenditure, of the
charity for that period. In preparing
these financial statements, the
trustees are required to:
• Select suitable accounting policies
and then apply them consistently.

• Make judgments and accounting
estimates that are reasonable and
prudent.
• State whether applicable UK
Accounting Standards have been
followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in
the financial statements.
• Prepare the financial statements
on the going concern basis unless it
is inappropriate to presume that the
charity will continue in business.
The trustees are responsible for
keeping adequate accounting records
that are sufficient to show and explain
the charity’s transactions and disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the charity.
They must enable them to ensure that
the financial statements comply with
the Charities Act 2011, the Charity
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations
2008 and the provisions of the trust
deed. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the charity
and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

Approval
This report was approved by the Board of Trustees at its meeting on 22 June
2020 and is signed on behalf of the trustees by the chair of trustees.
WILL HAIRE (Chair of Trustees)
25 June 2020
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Joseph Rowntree Foundation
Registered Charity
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE TRUSTEES
OF JOSEPH ROWNTREE FOUNDATION
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Joseph Rowntree Foundation (the ‘charity’) for the year ended 31
December 2019 which comprise the balance sheet, the statement of financial activities, the statement of cash flows
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
including Financial Reporting Standard 102; The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the charity's affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of its
incoming resources and application of resources for the year then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Charities Act 2011.
Basis for opinion
We have been appointed as auditor under section 144 of the Charities Act 2011 and report in accordance with
regulations made under section 154 of that Act. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
charity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK,
including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
The impact of macro- economic uncertainties on our audit
Our audit of the financial statements requires us to obtain an understanding of all relevant uncertainties, including
those arising as a consequence of the effects of macro-economic uncertainties such as Covid-19 and Brexit. All audits
assess and challenge the reasonableness of estimates made by the trustees and the related disclosures and the
appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparation of the financial statements. All of these depend on
assessments of the future economic environment and the charity's future prospects an performance.
Covid-19 and Brexit are amongst the most significant economic events currently faced by the UK, and at the date of
this report their effects are subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty, with the full range of possible outcomes and
their impacts unknown. We applied a standardised firm-wide approach in response to these uncertainties when
assessing the charity's future prospects and performance. However, no audit should be expected to predict the
unknowable factors or all possible future implications for a charity associated with these particular events.
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Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to
you where:
• the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements
is not appropriate; or
• the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt about the charity’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are
authorised for issue.
In our evaluation of the trustees' conclusions, we considered the risks associated with the charity's business, including
effects arising from macro-economic uncertainties such as Covid-19 and Brexit, and analysed how those risks might
affect the charity's financial resources or ability to continue operations over the period of at least twelve months from
the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. In accordance with the above, we have nothing to
report in these respects.
However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that
are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference to a
material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the charity will continue in operation.

Other information
The trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
Report of the Board, set out on pages 1 to 53 other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we
are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Charities Act 2011 requires us to report to you
if, in our opinion:
• the information given in the Report of the Board is inconsistent in any material respect with the
financial statements; or
• the charity has not kept sufficient accounting records; or
• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
Responsibilities of trustees for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Trustees' Statement of Responsibility set out on page 53, the trustees are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the
trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the charity’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the charity or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting
Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the charity's trustees, as a body, in accordance with Section 154 of the Charities Act 2011.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charity's trustees those matters we are required to
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity and its trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or
for the opinions we have formed.

Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
Leeds
Date: 29/6/2020
Grant Thornton UK LLP is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Note

2019

2018

£'000

£'000

INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS FROM:
Donations and legacies
Investments

1

Other income
TOTAL INCOME

-

30

7,926

8,297

2
7,928

23
8,350

EXPENDITURE ON:
Raising funds - investment management
Charitable activities

2

(6,271)

(5,564)

Grant commitments

3

(5,841)

(7,898)

Support and governance costs

4

(7,822)

(6,909)

Increase in retirement benefits
TOTAL EXPENDITURE BEFORE INVESTMENT MOVEMENTS

7

(19,934)

(2,975)
(23,346)

(12,006)

(14,996)

NET EXPENDITURE BEFORE INVESTMENT MOVEMENTS
Other Comprehensive income
Actuarial Loss in respect of Social Housing Pension Scheme

7

(1,259)

-

Re-measurement of Social Housing Pension obligation

7

(195)

-

(1,454)

-

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Investment Movements
(Loss)/Gain on Quoted investments

10

56,355

(Loss)/Gain on Other Investments

10

(1,020)

Gain on Directly Managed Investment Properties

10

(7,518)
(883)

346

-

TOTAL INVESTMENT MOVEMENTS

55,681

(8,401)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

42,221

(23,397)

Total Funds brought forward at 1 January

385,611

409,008

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD AT
31 DECEMBER

427,832

385,611

The Statement of Financial Activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the period. All income and
expenditure derives from continuing activities.

The Notes on pages 65-74 form part of these Financial Statements
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BALANCE SHEET
as at 31 December 2019
2019
Note

£'000

2018
£'000

£'000

£'000

Fixed Assets
Tangible Assets

8

2,490

2,533

Intangible Assets

9

235

169

Investments

10

441,343

394,727

444,068

397,429

Current Assets
Debtors
Cash and Cash Equivalents

11

920
782
1,702

762
4,727
5,489

12

(5,125)

(5,958)

Current Liabilities
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Net Current Liabilities
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more
than one year
Net Pensions Liability

Funds
Unrestricted Foundation Capital

13
7

(3,423)
440,645

(469)
396,960

(404)
(12,409)

(11,349)
-

427,832

385,611

427,832

385,611

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Trustees on 22 June 2020 and signed on its
behalf by:

Chair of the Trustees

26/6/2020

Will Haire

Chair of the Resources Committee

Gillian Ashmore

Director of Finance

Tracey Preece

The Notes on pages 65-74 form part of these Financial Statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2019
2019
Note
Net cash outflow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of other fixed assets
Disposal of other fixed assets
Purchase of quoted investments
Sale of quoted investments
Purchase of Investment Properties
Sale of Investment Properties
Purchase of Other Investments
Sale of Other Investments
Repayment of Hartrigg Oaks loans

£'000

14

2018
£'000

£'000

(12,784)

(226)
(69,880)
71,061
(40)
1,461
(4,709)
6,661
61

£'000
(16,129)

(19)
11
(70,554)
110,003
(23,898)
3,605
62
4,389

19,210

4,450
(3,945)

2,181
5,262

4,727
782

(535)
4,727

Management of liquid resources
Decrease/(Increase) in cash held for investment
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

The Notes on pages 65-74 form part of these Financial Statements
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1

Legal status
Joseph Rowntree Foundation (JRF) is a charity registered with the Charity Commission and was
formed by a Deed of Foundation. JRF is not incorporated, although the Trustees as a body are
incorporated under section 251 of the Charities Act 2011. JRF formally incorporated as a Company
Limited by Guarantee (CLG) on 31 July 2019, but was dormant until 1 January 2020. On 1 January
2020 the assets and liabilities of the unincorporated charity were transferred to the new JRF Ltd
under a Charity Commission Scheme and Order. More detail can be found in the 'Governing
Document 2019' section of the Trustees' Annual Report.

2

Basis of accounting
The Financial Statements of JRF meet the requirements of the Deed of Foundation and have been
prepared under the historic cost convention modified to include the valuation of investments in
accordance with applicable accounting standards, the Charities Statement of Recommended
Practice effective 1 January 2015, Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) and comply with the
Charities Act 2011.
JRF is a public benefit entity in accordance with FRS 102.
The Financial Statements are presented in Sterling (£).

3

Fund Accounting
The JRF endowment is an expendable endowment fund, with no restricted or designated reserves.
Under the terms of the Deed of Foundation, the Trustees have power to spend both income and
capital, but trustees have set a financial objective that the level of spending and the value of the
endowment should be maintained in real terms. A sustainable level of annual spending is determined
to meet this objective by reference to projected total return from the investments and future inflation.
The current distribution rate is 4.6% per annum.

4

Going Concern
JRF's activities, current financial position and future plans are set out in the Trustees' Annual Report.
The charity has a detailed financial planning process and at their final meeting of the year, Trustees
formally approve its budget for the following year as well as review indicative budgets for the
subsequent two years.
Cash flow forecasts are prepared covering the current and following year to ensure that cash
balances together with scheduled drawdowns from investment portfolios are sufficient to meet
planned expenditure.
Like most of the world, the UK was affected by the Covid-19 pandemic during the first quarter of
2020. Given the nature of JRF's activities, its costs are not expected to be materially impacted by the
Covid-19 pandemic although some planned expenditure is being re-purposed to provide grant
funding in support of its 'Community Response to Covid-19' programme. This involves contributing
to, typically national, organisations that are in need of emergency funding, providing additional grants
and support to JRF's current partners which it is working with on mission-related activities and finding
ways to amplify the voices of those in poverty who are most likely to be adversely impacted by the
pandemic.
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
4

Going Concern (continued)
Despite JRF's significant investment holdings, the Covid-19 pandemic prompted management to
perform sensitivity analysis on the forecasts which included:
 producing a stressed cash flow forecast to test that, in all situations, JRF will have access to
sufficient funds to meet its commitments.
 satisfying itself that it will continue to be possible to draw funds down from its investment
portfolio even in a stressed scenario.
Based on the above, Trustees are of the opinion that JRF has adequate resources to continue to
operate without disruption for the foreseeable future, being a period of at least 12 months after the
date on which the Trustees' Annual Report and financial statements are signed. For this reason, JRF
continues to adopt the going concern basis in the financial statements.
The Trustees' Annual Report also sets out why it is appropriate to adopt a going concern basis for
the preparation of the accounts.

5

Significant Management Judgements
The following are the significant management judgements made in applying the accounting policies
of JRF that have the most significant effect on the financial statements:
Judgements
(i) Non-consolidation
JRF owns 100% of the share capital of Clifton Estate Limited (CEL) and has the same Trustees as
Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust (JRHT). Management has reviewed the Charity SORP
requirements on consolidation and is of the opinion that consolidated financial statements are not
required, since none of the entities has the power to benefit from each other.
(ii) Timing of grant commitments
Management estimates the value of grant commitments payable within one year by looking at the
average expenditure over previous years and applying this as a percentage to the year end creditor.
Since expenditure varies from year to year this represents an estimate of sums due. The liability at
31 December 2019 due within one year was £2,015,000 and more than one year was £404,000.
Estimation Uncertainty
Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition
and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenditure is provided below. Actual results may
be substantially different.
(i) Useful lives of depreciable assets
Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date
based upon the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technological
obsolescence that may change the utility of certain software and IT equipment. Accumulated
depreciation at 31 December 2019 was £2,570,000
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
5

Significant Management Judgements (continued)
Estimation Uncertainty (continued)
(ii) Retirement Benefits - Past service deficit
JRF is committed to meeting the cost of past service deficits of the Social Housing Pension Scheme
Defined benefit scheme (SHPS-DB) at a pre-defined rate until September 2026. In respect of The
SHPS-DB in the prior year, JRF was unable to recognise its share of the Scheme assets and
liabilities and therefore had applied defined contribution accounting. For the year ended 31
December 2018 JRF recognised a past service deficit liability of £12,089,000, within creditors, based
on the present value of JRF's deficit funding agreement.
For the year ended 31 December 2019, JRF is able to identify its share of the Scheme assets and
liabilities from 1 January 2019 and therefore has applied defined benefit accounting from this date
onwards. For accounting purposes the relevant date for this change from defined contribution to
defined benefit accounting is 1 January 2019. The Scheme assets are measured at fair value.
Scheme liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method and are
discounted at approprate high quality corporate bond rates.
As at the year ended 31 December 2019, the net defined benefit liability in respect of SHPS-DB was
£12,409,000 which has been recognised in full in the balance sheet. The movement in the Scheme
deficit is charged or credited to either the operating surplus or the actuarial gain or loss reported on
the face of the statement of financial activities.
(iii) Recovery of Social Investment
Management have included social investments at their book cost less any provisions. At 31
December 2019, the value of social investments net of provisions of £1,157,000, was £7,917,000

6

Investments
(a) Quoted Investments, Property Unit Trusts and other investments are included in the Balance
Sheet at market value on 31 December 2019. Overseas investments are included at market
value at the prevailing exchange rate at the Balance Sheet date. Income from overseas
investments is shown at the prevailing exchange rate at the time of receipt.
(b) A formal independent valuation of directly managed investment properties in accordance with
the RICS Valuation Standards guidelines is obtained every three to five years. This was done in
2017. The historic cost of investment properties includes directly attributable finance costs
which are capitalised until the property reaches practical completion.
(c)

Investment in Hartrigg Oaks Loans comprises a loan made to Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust
to fund Hartrigg Oaks, a Continuing Care Retirement Community situated in New Earswick,
York. The loan outstanding at 31 December 2019 was a Fixed Interest Loan that is being
repaid over a 25 year term ending in 2023 with interest being charged at a rate of 6.75% per
annum.
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6

Investments (continued)
(d) Social Investments are programme related investments, as defined by the Charity Commission
and represent funding to organisations in order to further JRF's charitable objects. The primary
purpose of Social Investments is to provide a social return rather than a financial return. Social
Investments that are loans are accounted for at the outstanding amount of the loan less any
provision for unrecoverable amounts. Unquoted equity or bonds, social investment funds and
partnerships, and similar social investments are held at cost, less any provision for diminution in
value, unless JRF is able to obtain a reliable estimate of fair value.

7

Depreciation and Amortisation
Buildings are depreciated over their estimated economic lives. They are maintained to a high
standard by carrying out a continuing and planned programme of refurbishment and maintenance.
As a consequence, the buildings are estimated to have an outstanding economic life of a minimum
of 100 years: the charge for depreciation is, therefore, immaterial so no provision has been included
in the Accounts.
Depreciation of other assets is calculated at the following rates on a straight line method:- Short Leasehold Buildings: over the term of the lease
- Vehicles, Furniture and Office Equipment: over five years
- Computer Hardware: over three years
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets is calculated at the following rates on a straight line method:- Computer Software: over five years

8

Investment Income
Income from UK and Overseas Equities is brought into account on the date that the stock is declared
Ex-dividend. Income from overseas equities are stated in sterling at the prevailing exchange rate. All
other income is accounted for on an accruals basis. Income which is received directly into managed
funds is accounted for within the Statement of Financial Activities with a corresponding amendment
being made to the movement on the market value of the investment.

9

Cost of raising funds - Investment Management Costs
Investment management costs consist of fees paid to investment managers, for investment advice,
costs incurred in managing JRF's portfolio and costs of direct property investments.
Certain fees are performance related and are payable if an investment manager delivers an outperformance versus the relevant benchmark. An accrual has been raised for amounts which relate to
past performance and which fall due for payment within the following accounting year.
Where fees paid or due to investment managers have been deducted from either distributions or the
asset value, these are all adjusted to ensure that the financial statements reflect the gross amounts.
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
10

Charitable activities - Grant Commitments
Grant commitments are recognised in full in the year where there is a legal or unconditional
obligation to the third party. Grant commitments for which expenditure was outstanding at the yearend are shown as liabilities in the Balance Sheet.
Grant commitments are not recognised where a commitment is made to provide grant funding over a
number of years, but JRF has discretion to terminate the funding agreement. The funding
commitment in these circumstances is disclosed as a contingent liability

11

Charitable activities - Support and Governance Costs
Support costs comprise staff costs and associated overheads incurred on staff directly engaged in
the management, dissemination, influencing and demonstration of the results of work funded by JRF,
together with staff costs and associated overheads incurred on staff undertaking financial, Human
Resources, Information Technology and general administrative duties.

12

Employee costs
Employee costs include liabilities for the cost of all benefits which employees are entitled to but
which were unpaid at the Balance Sheet date.

13

Retirement Benefits
JRF participates in the Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS) which is a multi-employer defined
benefit scheme which is in actuarial deficit and JRF is committed to meeting the cost of past service
deficits at a pre-determined rate until September 2026. These contributions are accounted on a
defined benefits basis. (see 5 ii above)
The defined benefit scheme was closed on 1 April 2017. Employer contributions to direct contribution
schemes are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities in the year they are incurred.

14

Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust
Joseph Rowntree Foundation (JRF) has the same Trustees as Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust
(JRHT). JRHT is a charity and Housing Association Registered Provider providing housing and care
facilities in York and the northeast of England.
Directors and staff are employed by JRF and Administration Costs are shared between JRF and
JRHT. Those costs which are solely attributable to one of the organisations are charged to that
organisation. Shared costs are apportioned between JRF and JRHT on the basis of an estimate of
delivery cost.
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1

Investment Income
2019
£'000

2018
£'000

Quoted Investments
UK Fixed Interest and Index Linked
UK Equities
Overseas Fixed Interest and Index Linked
Overseas Equities

£'000

89
1,901
182
5,274
7,446

£'000
38
1,654
142
5,923
7,757

Other Investments
Other Investments
Property Unit Trusts
Social Investments

(10)
568
132

13
337
121

Directly Managed Investment Properties
Rents and other income
net of voids and bad debts
Other income
Interest (payable)/receivable (net)

690

471

63

59

(273)
7,926

10
8,297

Interest payable/(receivable) represents sums received on Hartrigg Oaks loans and cash held for investment net of overdraft interest.

2

Raising funds - investment management
2019
£'000
Investment Management Fees

6,235

5,438

5

91

Expenditure on Directly Managed Investment Properties
Expenditure on Social Investments

3

2018
£'000

31

35

6,271

5,564

Grant Commitments
JRF funds programmes of research and development work, details of which are included in the Trustees' Annual Report. Individual projects committed during the year within those programmes, in excess of £25,000, are
set out below.
Project

Organisation

Destitution in the UK, 2020
Tackling in-work poverty: delivering ‘Living Hours’ alongside a real Living Wage
British Social Attitudes income and inequality modules 2019
Co-designing solutions to in-work poverty
Made in Britain
Opening Knowledge and Research across Entertainment (OKRE) / SREE
Connecting with Low Income Voters
Funding the Rowntree Society 2020-22
Poverty Truth Network Transition Year
Repairing our social fabric
What do people want from Brexit?
Reframing race: making the case for race equality-changing the conversation (Joint
project with Voice4Change England)
Talking About Poverty/Poverty in the Media (Solve Poverty)
Unlocking Britain's potential
Poverty2Solutions - Phase 3: progressing the campaign on the socio-economic duty
Funding for post of Inclusive Growth Policy and Delivery Officer
Challenge Poverty Week 2019
Guardian & JRF Pitch at Sheffield Doc Fest 2019 (Solve Poverty)
Frameworks Support March 2019 - August 2019
FrameWorks’ Support: September 2019 - February 2020
Social Metrics Commission - Campaign and Funding Strategy 2019/20

Heriot-Watt University
Citizens UK
National Centre for Social Research
Involve
The Guardian
Wellcome Trust
Hanbury Strategy
The Rowntree Society
Poverty Truth Network
Onward
ComRes

319
174
169
120
119
100
91
90
87
86
75

The Runnymede Trust
On Road Media
Trades Union Congress
Thrive Teesside
West Midlands Combined Authority
The Poverty Alliance
The Guardian
Frameworks Institute
Frameworks Institute
Legatum Institute

71
66
63
61
60
56
54
52
52
50

An Effective Income Supplement: progress towards Scotland’s 2030 child poverty targets
Addressing Poverty with Lived Experience (APLE) Collective
Attitudes to Scottish Social Security
Poverty and social security - the left's agenda for the 2020's
Rebalancing the UK
Putting parents in the driving seat: talking about child poverty
Overarching Portrait of Britain Exhibition Fund
H is for Harry
Poverty Truth Community
Grants under £25,000
Total Research and Development Grants

IPPR Scotland
Joseph Rowntree Foundation
Bright Blue
Fabian Society
Prospect Magazine
Little Village
Joseph Rowntree Foundation
Mercurial Pictures
Faith in Community Scotland

42
41
34
33
32
32
30
30
25
386
2,700

Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust
Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust
Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust

1,808
497
360

Other Non Research and Development Grants made were:
Revenue Support
Heritage Assets
Capital Works to Improve Fire Safety within Housing Land and Buildings
Strategic Support
The Homestead Park
Regional Grants (Note i)
Write-back projects approved in previous years no longer required

£'000

153
301
189
(167)
5,841
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Grant Commitments (continued)
Note (i)
Regional Grants comprised:-

£'000
124
65

York
Hartlepool

189
Further information on the grant commitments in the year is available in the Trustees' Annual Report and on the JRF website.
Individual projects committed during 2018 within programmes, in excess of £25,000, are set out below.
Project

Organisation

UK Housing Evidence Centre

Economic and Social Research Council

500

JRF Audience benchmarking research - Stakeholder Research and Strategy Development

Britain Thinks

236

Greater Manchester Inclusive Growth Hub

University of Manchester

215

British Social Attitudes 2018

National Centre for Social Research

148

Fair Change Campaign

Citizens UK

114

A Northern Soul - Promotional Support

10ft Films Limited

84

Participatory research into the introduction of Universal Credit in Northern Ireland
Monitoring poverty and holding governments and others to account; building public and political will to solve UK poverty

University of York
Edelman Intelligence

70
60

The New Poverty Programme

The Orwell Foundation

49

Frameworks Support: March 18 - Aug 18

Frameworks Institute

49

A New Measure of UK Poverty

WPI Economics Limited

49

Frameworks Support: September

Frameworks Institute

48

Losing Control

Social Change Agency

48

Responsible capitalism, in-work poverty and pay progression: how business can do better by doing more for workers

Social Market Foundation

45

How Well is Universal Credit Supporting people in Glasgow?

University of Glasgow

45

The Impact of Post brexit trading arrangements

Cambridge Econometrics

42

Mapping and understanding JRFs opportunities for social investment (partnership between Small Change & The Good Economy)

Small Change NI

40

Scoping a practical resource to support local places to deliver inclusive growth

Metrodynamics

35

How can Universal Credit help working parents move out of poverty?

Britain Thinks

35

Poverty to Solutions

Thrive Teeside

34

Human Capital

Onward

30

Testing living rents with centre right audiences

Public First LTD

28

Challenge Poverty Week 2018
Grants under £25,000
Total Research and Development Grants

The Poverty Alliance

25
314
2,343

Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust
Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust
Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust
Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust

2,393
741
747
433
65
651
387
250
(112)
7,898

Other Non Research and Development Grants made were:
Revenue Support
Capital Works to New Earswick Folk Hall and Leisure facilities in New Earswick
Heritage Assets
Capital Works to Improve Fire Safety within Housing Land and Buildings
Strategic Support
External Communications Fund
The Homestead Park
Regional Grants
Write-back projects approved in previous years no longer required

4

£'000

Support and Governance Costs
2019
£'000
Staff costs, including welfare, training and temporary staff
Office costs
Travel and subsistence
Consultancy and professional fees
Governance (Note i)

5,146
1,258
245
994
179
7,822

2018
£'000
5,278
761
174
540
156
6,909

(i) Governance

Trustees' Travel and Subsistence
Trustees' Meeting Expenses and Training
Trustees' Appointment
Auditors' remuneration
Internal Audit

2019
£'000
18
17
24
27
93
179

2018
£'000
14
14
3
12
113
156

All the above costs are inclusive of applicable VAT. In addition to their audit fees the auditors received fees relating to non- audit work of £36,840 (2018 £2,100)
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Trustees' Emoluments

No Trustee received any emoluments or benefits in kind in respect of their services. Trustees are reimbursed for travel and subsistence costs incurred in carrying out their duties. The total sum reimbursed in the year was
£17,315 (2018: £14,273) and is included within Governance (Note 4). The number of Trustees reimbursed during the year was 11 (2018: 12).
6

Employee Information
(a) Staff Costs
Whilst employed by JRF, certain members of staff are engaged in duties on behalf of Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust (JRHT). Costs are apportioned between JRF and JRHT on the basis of an estimate of the delivery cost.
Total staff costs, including those shared with JRHT, during the year were:JRF
£'000

2019
JRHT
£'000

Total
£'000

JRF
£'000

2018
JRHT
£'000

Total
£'000

Wages and salaries

3,773

12,203

15,976

2,943

12,703

15,646

Retirement, redundancy and exit payments

34
373
668
4,848

154
945
611
13,913

188
1,318
1,279
18,761

149
289
1,533
4,914

456
997
537
14,693

605
1,286
2,070
19,607

National Insurance contributions
Other pension costs (Note 7)

The average weekly number of persons, including part-time staff, employed by JRF in conjunction with JRHT during the year was 664 (2018: 669).
The average number of full time equivalent employees, based on a working week of 35 hours, was 551 (2018: 549).
(b) Higher Paid Employees
The number of employees, excluding directors, whose full year, full time equivalent emoluments, including pension contributions
and benefits in kind, employed by JRF in conjunction with JRHT in the following ranges were:-

£60,001 - £70,000
£70,001 - £80,000
£80,001 - £90,000
£90,001 - £100,000
£140,001 - £150,000

2019

2018

2
8
1
1
1

4
4
2
-

The above bandings include two employees who left during the year. Equivalent annual remuneration places one of these employees in the banding £80,001 t0 £90,000 and the other employee, who received compensation
for loss of office, in the equivalent band for £140,001 to £150,000. In addition one employee who joined during the year is in the equivalent band for £70,001 to £60,000.
(c) Executive Directors and Key Management Personnel
The Chief Executive was required to split his time between York and London and was therefore deemed to have two places of work. In recognition of the fact that a significant amount of time must be spent in York, and that
the CE's family would remain based in London, Trustees agreed to fund accommodation in York and pay for travel expenses between London and York to facilitate this. The Benefit in Kind assigned to the CE of £12,000
consists of accomodation (£1,000), travel expenses (£4,000) and tax and national insurance (£7,000). These costs are included in the table below. The CE received no payments directly, apart from his core salary.

2019

2018

Basic Salary Benefits in kind

Pension
contributions

Total
Benefits

Basic
Salary

Compensation for
Loss of Office

Benefits
in kind

Pension
contributions

Total Benefits

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

85

12

14

111

154

-

39

10

203

-

-

-

-

16

120

-

-

136

101

-

13

114

101

-

-

7

108

76

-

10

86

-

-

-

-

-

Basic Salary Benefits in kind

Pension
contributions

Total
Benefits

Basic
Salary

Compensation for
Loss of Office

Benefits
in kind

Pension
contributions

Total Benefits

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Chief Executive- to 28 June 2019
Strategic Director of Communities to 28 February 2018
JRF Executive Director - from 1 September 2017
JRHT Executive Director- From 11 March 2019
(c) Executive Directors and Key Management Personnel (continued)

2019

Director of Finance to 30 April 2018
Director of Finance from 1 May 2018
Director of Corporate Services

2018

£'000

£'000

-

-

-

-

28

-

-

2

30

95
95

-

12
12

107
107

61
94

-

-

3
6

64
100

452

12

61

525

454

120

39

28

641

The aggregate remuneration of Key Management personnel was as follows:-

Basic Salary
Compensation for loss of office
Benefits in Kind
Pension Contributions
Employer's NIC

2019

2018

£'000

£'000

452
12
61
29

454
120
39
28
74

554

715

The compensation for loss of office of the Strategic Director of Communities in 2018 was entirely borne by JRF
The emoluments of the highest paid director, the JRF Executive Director, excluding pension contributions were £101,000 in 2019 (2018: Chief Executive £193,000)
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Social Housing Pension Scheme

JRF participated in the Social housing Pension Scheme (SHPS), a multi-employer scheme which provides benefits to some 500 non-associated employers. The Scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. The SHPS
scheme was closed to staff from 1 April 2017.
The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came into force on 30 December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the pensions regulator and Technical Actuarial Standards
issued by the Financial reporting Council, set out the framework for funding defined benefit occupational pension schemes in the UK. The last triennial valuation of the scheme for funding purposes was carried out as at 30
September 2017. This valuation revealed a deficit of £1,522m. A recovery plan has been put in place with the aim of removing this deficit by 30 September 2026.
The scheme is classified as a "last-man standing arrangement". Therefore JRF is potentially liable for other participating employers' obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the Scheme deficit following
withdrawl from the Scheme. Participating employers are legally required to meet their share of the scheme deficit on an annuity purchase basis on withdrawl from the Scheme.

For financial years ending on or before 28 February 2019, it has not been possible for JRF to obtain sufficient information to enable it to account for the Scheme as a defined benefit scheme, therefore JRF has accounted for the
Scheme as a defined contribution scheme. For Financial Years ending on or after 31 March 2019 , it is possible to obtain sufficient information to enable the Group to account for the Scheme as a defined benefit scheme.
For accounting purposes, two actuarial valuations for the Scheme were carried out with effective dates of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019. The liability figures for each valuation are, if applicable, used in conjunction
with JRF's fair share of the Scheme's total assets to calculate JRF's net deficit or surplus at the accounting period start and end dates.
Under the defined benefit pension scheme accounting approach the SHPS net deficit at 1 January 2019 was £12,089,000 and £12,409,000 at 31 December 2019.
The impact of this revision in accounting treatment is a charge to the comprehensive income of £195,000 in recognition of the re-measurement of historical deficits. This treatment is in accordance with FRED71 as issued in
January 2019.
£'000
Past service deficit liability as at 1 January 2019 derecognised
Net pension scheme deficit under defined benefit accounting as at 1 January 2019

12,089
(12,284)

Loss recognised in other comprehensive income on initial recognition at 1 January

(195)

JRF is meeting the past service deficit contribution which has arisen from the 2008 , 2011 , 2014 and 2017 actuarial valuations.
The present value of these contributions was calculated using the discount rate detailed in these disclosures. The present value at 31 December 2018 of £12,089,000 was based upon the following amounts payable by JRF from
1 January 2019.
From 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2026 £1,541,423 per annum increasing at 2% from 1 April each year.
a

Present value of creditor
2019
£'000
Present value of creditor- amount due within one year (note 12)
Present value of creditor- amount due after more than one year (note 13)

b

-

1,310
10,779

-

12,089

Reconciliation of opening and closing creditors

Creditor at start of period
Contributions paid
Operating cost charge
Finance charge
Creditor derecognised on change of accounting treatment

2019
£'000

2018
£'000

12,089
(12,089)

9,113
(1,364)
4,145
195
-

Creditor at end of period
c

-

12,089

Impact on the statement of financial activities
2019
£'000

d

2018
£'000

2018
£'000

Recognised in the operating surplus:
Operating cost charge
Finance charge

-

4,145
195

Total charge recognised

-

4,340

Assumptions
2019
% pa
Discount rate

-

2018
% pa
1.84

Previously the discount rate shown above was the equivalent single discount rate which, when used to discount the future recovery plan contributions due, would have given the same results as using a full AA corporate bond
yield curve to discount the same recovery plan contributions. The following schedule details the deficit contributions agreed between JRF and the scheme at the year end:
e

Deficit contributions schedule

Year 1
Year 2
Year 3
Year 4
Year 5
Year 6
Year 7
Year 8

2019
£'000
1,565
1,596
1,628
1,660
1,694
1,727
1,319
-

2018
£'000
1,489
1,565
1,596
1,628
1,660
1,694
1,727
1,319

The JRF previously recognised a liability measured as the present value of the contributions payable that arise from the deficit recovery agreement and the resulting expense in the statement of financial activities i.e the unwinding
of the discount rate as a finance cost in the period in which it arose. It is these contributions which were used to derive the groups recovery plan liability on the balance sheet.
f

Key financial assumptions

Discount rate
Inflation (RPI)
Inflation (CPI)
Salary Growth

2019
% pa

2018
% pa

2.05
3.05
2.05
3.05

2.80
3.25
2.25
3.25

The allowance for commutation of pension for cash at retirement was 75% in both 2018 and 2019.
g

Average life expectations
2019
Years

2018
Years

The mortality assumptions adopted at 31 December 2019 imply the following life
expectancies:
Male retiring in 2019
Female retiring in 2019
Male retiring in 2039
Female retiring in 2039
h

21.80
23.50
23.20
24.70

-

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial activities
2019
£'000

2018
£'000

Expenses (note 4)
Interest cost (note 2)

47
323

-

Total charged to statement of financial activities

370

-
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Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation
2019
£'000

j

54,482
47
1,504
(639)
180
5,829
(1,502)

-

Total charged to statement of financial activities

59,901

-

Reconciliation of fair value of Scheme assets
2019
£'000

k

42,198
1,181
4,111
1,504
(1,502)

-

Fair value of Scheme assets at end of year

47,492

-

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

47,492
(59,901)

-

Deficit in the scheme

(12,409)

-

Analysis of assets
2018
£'000

Global Equity
Absolute Return
Distressed Opportunities
Credit Relative Value
Alternative Risk Premia
Fund of Hedge funds
Emerging Markets Debt
Risk Sharing
Insurance-Linked Securities
Property
Infrastructure
Private debt
Opportunistic Illiquid Credit
Corporate Bond Fund
Liquid Credit
Long Lease Property
Secured Income
Over 15 Year Gilts
Liability Driven Investment
Net Current assets

9,561
2,270
917
1,240
3,146
43
1,759
1,557
1,323
1,054
3,353
941
863
2,301
926
1,554
14,433
251

6,530
3,900
836
835
2,108
744
1,466
1,421
1,384
1,842
1,882
559
2,049
1,643
14,873
126

Total Assets

47,492

42,198

Analysis of return on assets
2019
£'000

n

2018
£'000

Fair value of Scheme assets
Actuarial value of scheme liabilities

2019
£'000

m

2018
£'000

Fair value of Scheme assets at beginning of year (initial recognition)
Interest income on Scheme assets
Experience loss on plan assets (excluding amounts included in interest income)
Contributions by JRF
Benefits paid

2019
£'000

l

2018
£'000

Defined benefit obligation at beginning of year (initial recognition)
Expenses
Interest cost
Actuarial gain due to Scheme experience
Actuarial loss due to change in demographic assumptions
Actuarial loss due to change in financial assumptions
Benefits paid

2018
£'000

Interest on scheme assets
Actuarial gains

1,181
4,111

-

Actual return on assets

5,292

-

Analysis of return on assets recognised in other comprehensive income
2019
£'000

2018
£'000

Gains on Scheme assets
Experience gain on Scheme liabilities
Gain on change in assumptions (financial and demographic)

4,111
639
(6,009)

-

Actual return on assets

(1,259)

-
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Tangible Fixed Assets
Freehold
Land and
Buildings

Furniture
and
Equipment

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

2,342
2,342

1,384
23
(98)
1,309

3,726
23
(98)
3,651

-

1,193
66
(98)
1,161

1,193
66
(98)
1,161

191
148

2,533
2,490

Cost
At 1 January 2019
Additions
Disposals
At 31 December 2019
Depreciation
At 1 January 2019
Charge in the year
Disposals
At 31 December 2019
Net Book Value
At 1 January 2019
At 31 December 2019

2,342
2,342

Freehold Land and Buildings consists of JRF's offices at The Homestead, York.
JRF has a reversionary interest in the property known as Ouse Lea which will mature in the year 2119. No
value has been placed upon the reversion in these Financial Statements.
9

Intangible Fixed Assets
IT Software

£'000
Cost
At 1 January 2019
Additions
Disposals
At 31 December 2019

1,443
203
(2)
1,644

Amortisation
At 1 January 2019
Charge in the year
Disposals
At 31 December 2019

1,274
137
(2)
1,409

Net Book Value
At 1 January 2019
At 31 December 2019

169
235

70

DocuSign Envelope ID: 9F3F4AF3-6849-4C8F-9A2E-A4CABA81C96A

Joseph Rowntree Foundation
Registered Charity
10 Investments
Market
Value Purchases/
1.1.19
Additions
£'000

£'000

Sales/
Repayments

Gains/
(Losses)

Market
Value
31.12.19

Cost
31.12.18

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Quoted Investments
UK Index Linked

10,376

2,929

5,384

4,601

-

8,830

8,764

8,776

UK Equities

39,990

17,270

(11,007)

50,350

49,307

Overseas Index Linked

21,388

21,403

(25,122)

(737)

16,932

16,934

-

1,026

(1,081)

55

-

-

273,245

18,422

(24,845)

51,921

318,743

176,728

344,999

69,880

(71,061)

56,355

400,173

256,346

Other

14,022

3,423

(6,436)

(701)

10,308

11,069

Property Unit Trusts

13,681
27,703

3,423

(58)
(6,494)

(280)
(981)

13,343
23,651

14,779
25,848

Directly Managed

2,425

40

(1,461)

346

1,350

1,464

Social Investments

5,568

1,286

(167)

(39)

6,648

8,251

-

-

-

-

17
17

294
294

-

(61)
(61)

-

233
233

233
233

13,738

5,984

(10,434)

-

9,288

9,288

394,727

80,613

(89,678)

55,681

441,343

301,447

UK Fixed Interest

Overseas Fixed Interest
Overseas Equities

(9,006)
-

1,085
(66)
4,097

Other Investments

Investment Properties

Unquoted Investments
Clifton Estate Limited

-

Hartrigg Oaks Loans
Fixed

Cash held for Investment

Other Investments represents holdings in unit trusts in gold and precious metals, credit and illiquid strategies and
global funds at the year end.
A formal revaluation of Investment Properties was carried out in December 2017 by an independent, qualified,
chartered surveyor. The carrying value in the balance sheet reflects this valuation.
Investment losses on Social Investments includes a provision of £919,000 against one investment which entered
administration during the first quarter of 2019.
JRF owns 100% of the Ordinary Share Capital of Clifton Estate Limited . No value has been placed on this
shareholdings in the Accounts: in the opinion of the Trustees, any sum would be immaterial in the context of the
JRF's total investment portfolio.

71

DocuSign Envelope ID: 9F3F4AF3-6849-4C8F-9A2E-A4CABA81C96A

Joseph Rowntree Foundation
Registered Charity

11

12

Debtors
2019

2018

£'000

£'000

Prepayments

212

134

Accrued income
Other Debtors

693
15

625
3

920

762

2019

2018

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

£'000
Outstanding Grant Commitments (Note 13)
Retirement Benefit Deficit Liability
Bank Overdraft (unsecured)
Accruals
Other Creditors

13

£'000

2,015
2,107
1,003

2,280
1,310
2,045
323

5,125

5,958

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year
2019

2018
£'000

Outstanding Grant Commitments:
At 1 January

2,850

5,133

New grant commitments during year (Note 3)

5,841

7,898

(6,272)
2,419

(10,181)
2,850

(2,015)

(2,280)

Grants paid during year
Less: Amounts falling due within one year
(Note 12)
At 31 December
Retirement Benefit Deficit Liability

404

570

-

10,779

404

11,349

The timing of grant payments is largely dependent upon the submission of claims from the receiving institution. The classification of outstanding grant
commitments between those payable within one year and those payable after more than one year is, therefore, not certain. The classification between those
payable within one year and those payable after more than one year is based on an estimate.
14

Cash Flow from Operating Activities
2019
£'000
Net expenditure before investment movements
in the year
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets
Decrease in outstanding grant commitments
Increase in debtors
(Decrease)/ Increase in creditors
Increase in Net Pension Liability

£'000

£'000

(13,460)

(14,996)

66
137
(431)
(158)
(11,347)
12,409

Net cash outflow from operating activities
15

2018
£'000

78
160
(2,283)
(125)
1,037
676
(12,784)

(1,133)
(16,129)

Leasing Commitments
JRF's total future minimum operating lease payments are set out below:

Within one year
Between two and five years
Over five years

2019
£'000

2018
£'000

140
228
368

141
361
502

Leases relate to shared office space in one location, vehicles and photocopiers.
The annual charge for rental of office space under operating leases was £113,018 (2018: £113,018)
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Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust (JRHT) - Related Party Transactions
(a) Guarantee
JRF provided a guarantee to Lloyds Banking Group plc against a loan to JRHT. The loan this related to was redeemed in full during the year. The balance
outstanding on the loan at 31 December 2018 was £889,082.
(b) Loans
Outstanding loans to JRHT at 31 December 2019 amounted to £233,033 (2018: £294,110). Loans advanced were £nil and loan repayments amounted to
£61,107 Interest charged on loans to JRHT during the year was £18,512 (2018: £22,603).

(c) Loan Facility
JRF provides a facility for up to £15,000,000 to JRHT, for any short term cash flow requirements, negating the need to source external funding. Interest will
be charged at market value rates, taking external advice as necessary. As at 31 December 2019 none of this facility had been drawn (2018: £Nil).
(d) Grants
JRF provided a grant of £1,808,000 to JRHT in 2019 to provide revenue support. The amount provided in 2018 was £2,393,000.
JRF provided a grant to JRHT to fund capital works to heritage assets and associated costs in 2018 of £741,000.
JRF provided a grant to JRHT in 2019 to fund capital works required to improve Fire Safety within Housing Properties of £360,000. The amount provided in
2018 was £433,000.
JRF provided a grant of £497,000 to JRHT in 2019 towards the direct running costs of heritage assets. The amount provided in 2018 was £747,000
17

Clifton Estate Limited (CE) - Related Party Transactions
JRF holds all the share capital of CE, a property management and development company operating in York. Two of the Directors of CE are also Trustees of
JRF. No Trustee or Director received any payment in respect of this service. CE made a Gift Aid payment to JRF during the year of £nil (2018: £30,000).

18

Trustees' Related Party Transactions
During the year and in recognition of their services to the organisation, Trustees were permitted to recommend organisations which should be considered for
a one off donation. Each Trustee was allowed to make recommendations not exceeding £5,000. The following are donations which have been made during
the year where the recipient organisation is related to the Trustee.
Relationship with
Trustee name
Recipient
Amount
recipient organisation
Graham Millar

Kyra Women's Project

£1,000

Close Family Member is a Trustee

2018

19

Relationship with recipient
organisation

Trustee name

Recipient

Amount

Saphié Ashtiany

Equal Rights Trust

Steve Burkeman

Jessie's Fund

Steve Burkeman

The Rowntree Society

Steve Burkeman

Friargate Quaker Meeting

Graham Millar

£1,000

Committee Member

Graham Millar

Company of Merchant Taylors
Electronic Medical Records for the Developing
World (EMR4DW)

£1,000

Trustee and Treasurer

Dianne Willcocks

York Media Arts Festival

£5,000

Director

£5,000

Chair of Board

£500

Trustee and Vice Chair

£1,000

Trustee

£500

Member

Directors' Related Party Transactions
During 2019, the charity Involve was commissioned by JRF, at a cost of £111,822, to co-design solutions to in-work poverty. Claire Ainsley, Executive
Director of JRF during 2019 is a Trustee of this charity. Additional oversight of the awarding of this grant was put in place to ensure there was no conflict of
interest.

20

Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at
amortised cost
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are measured at fair value through the
surplus or deficit

2019
£'000

2018
£'000

1,490

5,355

(5,437)

(5,134)

(12,409)

(12,089)

(16,356)

(11,868)
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Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)
Financial liabilities measured at fair value are represented by the deferred pension liability. The difference between the carrying amount and contractually
obliged payments is:
2019
£'000
Carrying amount

12,409

12,089

Contractual Obligations

12,409

12,868

21

2018
£'000

(779)

Post Balance Sheet Events
During March 2020, the outbreak of Covid-19 was announced as a global pandenic by the World Health Organisation. JRF has concluded that this is a nonadjusting post balance sheet event and as such the pandemic did not have any impact on the measurement of assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2019.
The Covid-19 pandemic is, however, expected to have a financial impact on JRF in 2020 in four key areas:
 Increased volatility of equity markets and the likelihood of a world recession may lead to a sustained reduction in the value of the £369m of equities held at
the year end and, in turn, the income of the Foundation. The Trustees' report notes that at the end of March the value of JRF's total investments of £441m
had fallen to £396m.
 Increased risk within the £7m social investment portfolio. Investees are likely to be facing similar challenges to other organisations and a number of
requests to defer loan repayments have already been approved. Currently, requests for the deferment of capital and/or interest payments totalling £125,000
have been received from six of the twenty-one organisations that JRF has invested in.
 Pivoting planned grants towards emergency funding, partner organisations that JRF has worked with in the past, and amplifying the voices of people and
places trapped in poverty.
 Pension liabilities in respect of the deferred pension scheme are likely to increase. The precise impact will not be known until a revised valuation is
produced by the Social Housing Pension Scheme.
As the 'Governing Document 2019' section of the 'Trustees Annual Report' sets out in more detail, on 1 January 2020 the assets and liabilities of the
unincorprated charity were transferred to a new Company Limited by Guarantee named Joseph Rowntree Foundation underr a Charity Commission Scheme
and Order.
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